Agenda - Petitions Committee

Meeting Venue: For further information contact:
Committee Room 3 - Senedd Gareth Price - Committee Clerk
HYBRID 0300 200 6565

Meeting date: 17 October 2022 Petitions@senedd.wales

Meeting time: 14.00

1

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

3.1

Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of

interest
(Pages 1 - 20)

New Petitions

P-06-1291 Hold an enquiry into the corporate takeover of the veterinary
profession in Wales

(Pages 21 - 38)
P-06-1299 Welsh Government 'Freeze on road building" to include a clause
for cases that pose a danger to life

(Pages 39 - 42)
P-06-1300 Review the decision allowing local authorities to increase council
tax premiums on second homes to 300%

(Pages 43 - 49)
P-06-1302 Protect Mid-Wales’ unique Cambrian Mountains: designate them
an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty

(Pages 50 - 69)

Updates to previous petitions

P-05-1106 Introduce Personal Health Budgets and Personalised Care in
Wales
(Pages 70 - 73)

’?”// Senedd Cymru

Welsh Parliament



3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

P-06-1163 Extend the postgraduate STEMM bursary to all MSc students in
Wales
(Pages 74 - 75)
P-06-1240 Improve health services for people with epilepsy living in Wales
(Pages 76 - 122)
P-06-1249 Provide a clinical pathway, medical care, and specialists for
people with Tourette’s syndrome in Wales
(Pages 123 - 125)
P-06-1276 Extend section 25B of the Nurse Staffing Levels Act (Wales) 2016
(Pages 126 - 130)

Motion under Standing Order 17.42(ix) to resolve to exclude the

public from the remainder of the meeting

Forward work programme



By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42 Ag e n d a I te m 1

Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1



Senedd Cymru | Welsh Parliament
Ymchwil y Senedd | Senedd Research

P-06-1291: Hold an enquiry into the

corporate takeover of the veterinary
profession in Wales

Y Pwyllgor Deisebau | 17 October 2022
Petitions Committee | 17 Hydref 2022

Reference: SR22/3596-4

Petition Number: P-06-1291

Petition title: Hold an enquiry into the corporate takeover of the veterinary
profession in Wales

Text of petition: In 1999 legislation was changed by the UK Government
which allowed veterinary practices to be owned not just by qualified
veterinary surgeons. This paved the way for private equity stakeholder
corporates to buy into this market.

These profit driven organisations have changed the profession so that it is
barely recognisable. In many parts of Wales, it is virtually impossible to find an
independently run veterinary practice.

The corporate buyout now extends to out of hours provision, referral practices
as well as general practice. The corporates also own laboratories, drug
companies, pet crematorium as well as shares in many pets’ food companies.
Such a monopoly make the few remaining independently run practices
presence virtually untenable. From vet school to recruitment through to
practice the corporates have the advantage. Set in this context their
influence on bodies such as the RCVS and BVA is predictable.

For those of use with companion animals this monopoly has had devastating
consequences. From lack of choice in finding an independent practice,
seeing the same Veterinary Surgeon for continuity of care trough to cost. But

% Pack Page 21 www.senedd.wales



Senedd Research Petition Briefing P-06-1291

most of all clinical decisions being made with the policies of the corporate’s
taking centre stages.

My experience with My Cat Rosa sadly means | will always mistrust some
within the profession. Companion animals are part of people’s families. Covid,
the isolation and mental health issues have made these relationships even
more precious. | dread to think (but have been informed) how the animal
rescue sectors in Wales copes. Because they must deal with some of the
most abuse and clinically challenged animals who have significant and often
complex medical needs.

Despite numerous petitions to the UK Government, Department for
Environment Food & Rural Affairs etc have failed to take any action
whatsoever. Cymru has led the way before on animals and their welfare, so
we ask our Senedd to do so again.

1. Background

1999, allowing persons who are not vets to legally own veterinary practices for the
first time in the UK. Prior to this, only qualified and licensed veterinarians were
able to own practices.

According to the Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons (RCVS), the change in law

variety of entities, including limited companies and partnerships and may be
managed by non-veterinary surgeons. However, the RCVS expects organisations to
appoint a senior veterinary surgeon to provide appropriate professional direction.

The majority of veterinary practices in the UK (over 53%, RCVS) are now owned by
seven companies. Of the 343 veterinary practice premises in Wales, 151 are owned
found that 40% of respondents work in practices that are part of a corporate or a
joint venture with a corporate group. The same survey also found that some
respondents were concerned with the rise in corporate ownership, particularly

Pack Page222


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1966/36#:~:text=An%20Act%20to%20make%20fresh,misconduct%3B%20and%20for%20connected%20purposes.
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/41/contents
https://www.rcvs.org.uk/setting-standards/advice-and-guidance/code-of-professional-conduct-for-veterinary-surgeons/supporting-guidance/veterinary-team-and-business/
https://www.rcvs.org.uk/setting-standards/advice-and-guidance/code-of-professional-conduct-for-veterinary-surgeons/supporting-guidance/veterinary-team-and-business/
file:///C:/Users/lugonjab/Downloads/1the-2019-survey-of-the-veterinary-profession-report-final%20(1).pdf

Senedd Research Petition Briefing P-06-1291

about the impact on patient care, younger veterinary surgeons’ development and
support for smaller businesses.

The British Veterinary Association has a neutral view of corporate ownership and
of corporate ownership include improved employee benefits, professional training
and access to new graduate schemes. -However they argue this could be offset by
restricted clinical choice, delayed decision making and outsourcing of out of
hours services.

the purchase of Quality Pet Care by the CVS Group (which owns 467 vet practices
in the UK) raised competition concerns in five local areas, in which the combined
businesses would provide over 30% of veterinary services. CVS Group ultimately

veterinary surgeons from entering any agreements that may have the effect of
fixing fees.

veterinary practices by persons other than those persons who are veterinary
practitioners and to provide for related matters. The Bill was considered by the

2. Welsh Government action

The Minister for Rural Affairs and North Wales, and Trefnydd'’s (The Minister) letter
on this petition states the provision of veterinary services in Wales remains a non-
devolved issue and as such is unable to comment or engage with the matter. The
Minister said:

[The petitioners] comments regarding general standards of care and
charging are a matter of some concern as | feel strongly that the same
professional standards should be expected of all vets who practice and

Pack Page 23


https://vethelpdirect.com/vetblog/2022/03/25/did-you-know-you-dont-have-to-be-a-vet-to-own-a-vet-practice/#h-the-pros-of-a-corporate-veterinary-practice
https://www.gov.uk/cma-cases/cvs-slash-quality-pet-care-merger-inquiry
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/62b5d01ee90e0765d523caea/CVS_The_Vet_-_FINAL_undertakings_publication.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/62b5d01ee90e0765d523caea/CVS_The_Vet_-_FINAL_undertakings_publication.pdf
https://www.rcvs.org.uk/setting-standards/advice-and-guidance/code-of-professional-conduct-for-veterinary-surgeons/pdf/
https://data.oireachtas.ie/ie/oireachtas/bill/2021/21/eng/memo/b2121d-memo.pdf
https://www.irishstatutebook.ie/eli/2005/act/22/enacted/en/html
https://www.oireachtas.ie/en/debates/debate/dail/2022-04-27/9/

Senedd Research Petition Briefing P-06-1291

offer services to the public, regardless of the model of ownership and
operation.

3. Senedd action

Rural Affairs Committee raised concerns regarding private, large veterinary
companies buying up smaller vets practices in rural areas and not being able to
offer full provision of vet services.

In response to the question of whether the Minister was aware of this or whether
it was an isolated incident, Dr Christianne Glossop, the Chief Veterinary Officer for
Wales, replied:

Of course, veterinary practices are commercial businesses and they're going
to make their own commercial decisions, but there has been a trend over the
last few years of large corporate practices being established, and, indeed
buying some of the independent practices. [.].We are watching it carefully.
Obviously in itself it doesn't have to be a bad thing. So, as long as the services
that we need to be provided are still being provided to the right standard,
then it is a matter for the veterinary profession to make its own judgement on
that. The Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons sets the standards, so it's not a
question of standards being diminished, although certainly, I've been seeing
this happening - for example, practices now quite often don't offer the 24-
hour cover; there are night services. So, if you're trying to get your dog or cat
seen out of hours, you might find yourself having to go to an alternative
practice. So, that's an issue. But in terms of provision for the services that we
need vets to provide, that's still happening across Wales, but it is something
that we are watching very carefully.

Every effort is made to ensure that the information contained in this
briefing is correct at the time of publication. Readers should be aware that
these briefings are not necessarily updated or otherwise amended to
reflect subsequent changes.

Pack Page424


https://record.assembly.wales/Committee/12636

Senedd Research Petition Briefing P-06-1291

Pack Page 25



4

Lesley Griffiths AS/MS f"'} ﬁ(
Y Gweinidog Materion Gwledig a Gogledd Cymru, a’r Trefnydd '\/ J(
Minister for Rural Affairs and North Wales, and Trefnydd J -/JA

Llywodraeth Cymru

Eich cyf/Your ref P-06-1291 Welsh Government
Ein cyf/Our ref LG/00455/22

Jack Sargeant MS

Chair - Petitions Committee

Senedd Cymru

Cardiff Bay

Cardiff

CF99 1SN

08 Sep.2022
Dear Jack,

Thank you for your letter of 3 August, regarding ‘Petition P-06-1291: Hold an enquiry into
the corporate takeover of the veterinary profession in Wales’, as originally raised by Dr
Linda Evelyn Joyce-Jones.

Dr Joyce-Jones’ comments regarding general standards of care and charging are a matter of
some concern as | feel strongly that the same professional standards should be expected of
all vets who practice and offer services to the public, regardless of the model of ownership
and operation.

While, therefore, | may sympathise with the points contained within the petition, | very much
regret having to advise that | am prevented from commenting or engaging in this matter as
the provision of veterinary services in Wales remains a non-devolved issue, which lies beyond
the remit and responsibility of the Welsh Government. In such circumstances, all concerns
regarding standards in the corporate sector can only be addressed to the Royal College of
Surgeons for further consideration.

| fully appreciate this is unlikely to have been the response Dr Joyce-Jones had hoped to
receive. Despite having sent numerous petitions to the UK Government’s Department for the
Environment and Rural Affairs previously, | am afraid it remains the only avenue open in trying
to address this matter.

Yours sincerely,

| oo ) (et A
?Q‘f-fj\,\a,'\/.' S ] AL LA~
Lesley Griffiths AS/MS
Y Gweinidog Materion Gwledig a Gogledd Cymru, a’r Trefnydd
Minister for Rural Affairs and North Wales, and Trefnydd

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:

Bae Caerdydd « Cardiff Bay 0300 0604400
Caerdydd « Cardiff Gohebiaeth.Lesley.Griffiths@llyw.cymru
CF99 1SN Correspondence.Lesley.Griffiths@gov.wales

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.

We welcome receiving correspondence in WelR.aQ'K cB@Qﬁd%@ received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.


mailto:Gohebiaeth.Lesley.Griffiths@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Lesley.Griffiths@gov.wales

P-06-1291 Hold an enquiry into the corporate takeover
of the veterinary profession in Wales, Correspondence
— CatsMatter to Committee, 23.09.22

IS bad for animals and their owners
By CatsMatter

The rule changes in 1999 allowed the non-vet ownership of veterinary practices. It was a move that
triggered exponential growth in corporate ownership. This was an opportunity of course, but a
financially beneficial opportunity, not an opportunity to maintain or grow animal welfare standards.

While independent veterinary practices accounted for 89% of the UK industry in 2013, this share had
fallen to less than half (45%) by 2021, primarily because of independent practices being bought by
corporate groups. Less than half of the practices in the UK are now independently owned after
practices have sold to corporate giants. Corporates have a variety of business structures and
‘reward’ the owners for selling up, but ultimately end up controlling the practices pricing, hours
worked and targets. Reportedly, some practices had been approached almost monthly with a buyout
offer. It’s reported that they are made offers that they simply could not refuse and are paid very
handsomely. Well beyond what would be affordable or sensible for younger vets within the practice
to buy into. The business model is usually a roll-up model, where a medium-sized corporate buys up
practices across the country with the aim of eventually selling them on to a bigger company at a
higher price after having hit.

Corporates outsize influence on many parts of the veterinary economy, which is impacting the
profession in many ways. At least half of the groups owning more than 15 practices have private-
equity firm (PE) investment, money from funds and investors that are used to directly invest or
buyout companies. These individuals or investors have money they want to grow, but are looking for
an alternative to stocks, bonds, real estate, etc. PE firms have a short-term horizon and are often
looking to buy businesses, improve them with investments in needed equipment, improve their
operations, and increase their net profit margin. The goal is to maximize the return on that initial
investment so that they can re-sell the business for a profit within 5 to 7 years. | wish to remind you
here that we are not talking about stock markets, we are talking about veterinary practices that deal
with the lives and wellbeing of sentient beings. Not to mention their owners, who are often
innocently unaware of who owns the practice.

Because private equity exists specifically to maximize return on investment, it is clear how there
would be a conflict between patients’ best interest and profit margin. To maximise return to
investors, this can be achieved either by paying less per person or having fewer employees, among
cost saving on pharmaceuticals or equipment, and of course higher prices for the pet owner.

A study presented at the International Veterinary Emergency and Critical Care Symposium (IVECCS)
demonstrated a direct link between increasing adverse events and a lower number of veterinary
technicians in intensive care units (ICUs). Highlighting how this is now affecting patient care. What
we are witnessing now is much higher prices for much lower quality services. This should not be
accepted in the veterinary sector when animals’ wellbeing and lives are at stake, and people are
forced to make heart breaking decisions due to struggling with the untimely extortionate financial
burden placed on them. People are not attempting to pay for a new TV or latest iPhone, they are
faced with impossible costs to save the lives of their beloved companions who are family to them. In
some cases, all that person has. We are an organisation that deals with road traffic accidents
involving cats, and we have seen first-hand the severe deterioration of mental wellbeing in people

Pack Page 27


https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/vec.12877

that have been directly affected by this, either through extortionate out of hours costs, or fees
people are just not able to pay. We have known cats to be euthanised with very minor cuts and
bruises following a road accident also because no microchip could be located. No microchip means
no one locatable to pay for veterinary services. Euthanasia is perhaps an easy and more financially
beneficial option for some over pain relief and/or treatment. This now profit driven business is
costing animals their lives unnecessarily and causing distress among veterinarians who got into that
line of work simply to help the animals they love. Intervention and meaningful action must be taken
now before the opportunity is lost and the section irreparably damaged.

Pack Page 28



P-06-1291 Hold an enquiry into the corporate takeover of the veterinary
profession in Wales, Correspondence - Anonymous Veterinary Surgeon to
Committee, 27.08.22

Dear Linda,

Further to your request for [jj Jjcomment orjjjl] experiences as, |Jllan independent
practice owner competing with the veterinary corporates, |Jjj 2 clinical director within one of
the main corporates, andjjj ljan independent veterinary surgeon i ! have put together
these notes. | must point out that, JJj all clinical directors within corporates are required to sign a
Non Disclosure Agreement as part of their employment, | cannot detail any internal policies that
have not been made public and | also don’t wish to make this a purely personal account of the
impact of veterinary corporates but, rather, to highlight the issues that having entities with so much
power and wealth is having within our industry. | will, therefore, be avoiding recounting any
personal stories.

So what are the major issues that | feel are of a negative impact on our profession from having such
large entities now controlling so many practices?

The main impact on the industry is really one of competition, or the restriction thereof. Having so
much power and so many sites throughout the UK is creating a monopoly for the corporates over
the supply of medications, goods and services. Their buying power is now so great that the
peripheral industries that supply our profession are being held to ransom. Pharmaceutical
companies are giving massive discounts, though these are rarely passed on to the consumer as most
pricing is based on net cost calculations, not net-net. The enticement being that the corporate will
add their products to the preferred supplier lists, a list that, nominally, you don’t have to follow but,
in reality, such a choice is actively discouraged. Indeed, some products are often blacklisted,
presumably because their producer refuses to accept the terms of the corporates and put such
discounts in place. This is not only true of medications. It’s also true of peripheral organisations such
as waste disposal, cremation services, laboratories, equipment suppliers, equipment repair services,
online pharmacies, IT and software provision, electrical testing, telemedicine providers, health &
safety consultants, direct debit suppliers, out of hours hospital services...essentially every service
that provides the industry is now under pressure to greatly reduce prices to the corporates for their
continued usage. If they get onto the list they have the ability to make greatly increased sales, but
failing to do so is likely to result in their exclusion from much of the market and put their viability in
jeopardy. But what does this mean for the independent practices that still exist? Well, their costs
have sharply risen as a result. Nobody is aware of the real discounts the corporates receive, not even
the clinical directors within each practice, because these are kept very much private, but the
published net cost of services and goods, that independent practices have to pay, have risen well
ahead of even today’s inflation rates. It can only be assumed that the independent practices are now
subsidising the corporate discounts. Additionally, having bought over the bulk of practices in the UK,
the corporates have started to move onto buying up these additional service companies. Many of
them now own their own distributors, laboratories, online pharmacies, direct debit providers,
cremation companies, pharmaceutical and nutraceutical suppliers etc etc, and those they don’t own,
that are allowed to remain on the preferred suppliers list, are further pressurised over their pricing
by the threat that the corporate will invest into its own purchased entity to push them out of the

Pack Page 29



market. So the discounts increase, pushing up the net cost to independents and the subsidising
continues. In short, while having multiple corporates gives the illusion of competition, the way they
pressurise the veterinary submarket providers is creating an unfair monopoly on supplies.

Two markets have changed dramatically, the first being the pharmaceutical industries, who must
now compete with each other by offering massive discounts and the promise of uninterrupted
supplies for their corporate partners. How this is impacting the profit remaining for research and
development of new products, in addition to pushing up independent practice net costs, is for
someone within that industry to comment on, but | would very much encourage you to ask them. It
also seems to be having a knock on effect of an ever reducing number of drugs being available.
Products that don’t make it onto at least one corporates list have little financial benefit to the
pharmaceutical producer and that seems to be resulting in an increased culling of older and less
commonly used products, often with no direct replacement available. Again, something for the
pharmaceutical companies to answer as to whether their changing relationship with the corporate
buyer is resulting in this loss of choice. The pharmaceutical industry has also punished independent
practices in the recent vaccination shortages for both dogs and cats, making sure the corporate sites
receive supplies by ring fencing available stock for them, and leaving independent practices with no
supplies for months on end.

The second market seeing an effect is the pet food market. It's no secret that the Linnaeus Group is
owned by the Mars family, and IVC Evidensia is heavily backed by Nestlé, which is resulting in a great
reduction in choice for the consumer when it comes to pet food diets, specifically for prescription
diets that can only be bought from their vet, and which the sub-brands of both companies provide.
As you would expect, the corporates receive these food at greatly reduced cost, and very much push
for their usage in practice over their competitors. Much like the pharmaceuticals, the amount of
choice left for the veterinarian and, therefore, the client, is ever decreasing.

The next area of concern is in veterinary manpower, which is a complex issue. Essentially, the
corporates have a massive advantage in the recruitment of new graduates but they are contributing,
in my opinion, greatly to the lack of ability to retain trained staff within the profession. In terms of
recruitment, corporate sponsorship within veterinary schools of lectures, events and student
organisations, as well as the provision of under graduate bursaries, creates visibility to the
recruitment of new graduates that no independent practice can hope to match. They also offer
“graduate academies” which are elongated block release courses where newly qualified graduates
receive additional training, and the salaries of these new graduates are not put against the individual
corporate practice’s balance sheet for much of the initial employment year. Now, this could be seen
as a good thing for the graduates, but it also creates a near inability for any independent practice to
match them. The contents of these graduate academies teachings also raise some concern. This is
purely personal opinion, but the concentration on university/referral level “gold standard” practice
is creating the ever increasing bills that clients now face. It will be argued, by its proponents, that
“gold standard” is better medicine. However, the reality, again in my personal opinion, is that simple
cases end up being excessively worked up, receiving set protocols of laboratory and diagnostic tests
that are often not necessary, and just add to the wedge, that is the excessive cost of treatment, that
the profession is placing between the clinician and the animal owners. If you teach this to new
graduates that know no better, and tell them that any other way is inferior, then you create an
entire generation of veterinarians who are comfortable with charging far more than their
predecessors. You can take that consequence of the graduate academies as you wish, but it then
leads us to the second part of the manpower issue. That of retention of veterinary staff, both vets
and nurses, within our profession. We are a profession that is on its knees as a result of losses during

Pack Page 30



COVID and Brexit (approximately 25% of UK vets were EU nationals pre Brexit), and the
dissatisfaction within the profession is ever growing. We are now at a point where surveys have
shown that the average veterinary graduate stays in full time employment for just over 4 years.
That’s one year less than they trained for! And why is their such a move to abandon the profession
en masse? As well as the intensity of working hours and the constant emotional turmoil, which have
always been part of the vocation, we now have a gargantuan rise in pricing. It's a combination of
medicinal supplies increasing (those net-net savings never reaching the consumer), a focus on
expensive standard operating protocols, the massive increase in emergency fees (the UK’s largest
out of hours provider, Vets Now, is wholly owned by IVC Evidensia), and the push from corporate
internal “pricing gurus” for ever higher service fees, both consultations and surgical pricing.
Independent practices are not free from all of these either. They are paying far more, as outlined
above, for their own supplies and the average transaction fee is ever increasing as a result, as they
can’t afford to absorb the rise without passing it on to the consumer. They are also entirely at the
mercy of the Vets Now fee structure if they wish to maintain a separate out of hours supplier rather
than covering all of their own on call work. And it is the frontline staff; the vets, nurses and
receptionists, that take the brunt of the client’s anger and complaints on a daily basis. These massive
rises don’t just make for increased profits, they are damaging the mental health of the frontline staff
who have to defend them, and they are resulting in ever more clients failing to seek help for their
pets at an early juncture. Much of the assumption from the pricing “gurus” is that the insurance
companies would meet these increasing fees, but the insurance industry’s appetite for pet insurance
has been on the wane since the banking crisis 12 years ago, and premiums and policy restrictions are
increasing at such an exponential rate that most owners simply cannot afford the insurance now.

The last concern | have is the amount of influence that the corporates have within the governing and
political bodies of our industry. The main representative body for veterinarians, the British
Veterinary Association, and the veterinary nurse equivalent, the British Veterinary Nurse
Association, now receive the majority of their membership fees from the veterinary corporates.
Most corporates pay their employee’s membership fees regardless of whether they wish to be
members or not. A nice perk on the surface, but this means a small number of corporate groups
finance the majority of both organisations, organisations that are meant to give their members legal
advice in regards to disputes with their employers. The BVA also receives corporate sponsorship
from the Mars group, nominally for research, which, as mentioned above, also owns the Linnaeus
Group. What form that sponsorship takes, | have little information on, but it seems a potentially
unwise conflict of interest.

I (< Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons, also holds meetings with the Major
Employers Group, a group that represents the corporate employers, along with some of the larger
charities employing veterinary professionals such as the Blue Cross and PDSA. There have been
repeated calls for minutes of these meetings to be made public, as they are for many of the other
RCVS committee meetings, but they have never been forthcoming. For commercial groups to hold
this much potential political sway over the profession they have bought their way into, without the
ability for members of the profession to transparently see what influence they have, or do not have,
on policy decisions cannot, surely, be seen as healthy.

| hope this is of some use to you in your continued investigations into the role veterinary
corporations play in the profession.

Pack Page 31



P-06-1291 Hold an enquiry into the corporate takeover of the veterinary
profession in Wales, Correspondence - Petitioner to Committee, 09.10.22

Petition P-06-1291

To the Chair and Members of The Petitions Committee of Senedd Cymru.
Thank you for having this petition as an agenda item.

The Minister's correspondence of 8/9/22

| would like to thank Lesley Griffiths MS the Minister for Rural Affairs and North Wales for her
response.

It's interesting to note that Lesley is aware of several petitions on this issue that our Welsh
Government has had to send to DEFRA and the UK Government.

| am also pleased to hear Lesley putting on the record her view that the same professional standards
should be expected irrespective of who owns a veterinary practice.

The Minister is correct in her assertion that the Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons - RCVS is seen
as the regulator of such matters. But the RCVS has already made clear to our Petitions Committee
previously their stance on this 1.

It is clear that this matter has been raised numerous times with the UK Government and DEFRA over
a considerable amount of time. But they have chosen to take no action.

In a letter to me of 3/3/2022 the former Minister Sir Zac Goldsmith informed me " we have not
taken a view on the ownership model of veterinary practices" 2.

Meanwhile our Senedd and Welsh Government have made great progress in animal welfare. | know
you and many other Senedd Cymru Members will not find it acceptable that this issue isn't a
devolved matter . Especially when it's clear the UK Government show no appetite in acting.

The Competition Marketing Authority - CMA have in the past year chosen to halt the acquisition of
two veterinary groups by different corporate stakeholder companies. But the CMA's remit is very
limited and does not encompass animal welfare. The CMA have chosen never to take action against
one of the biggest corporate stakeholder companies who also hold the largest interest in out of
hours provision, Independent Vetcare Evidensia. In 2011 Independent Vetcare Evidensia owned and
operated eleven veterinary practice's in the UK to date they run over 1,500 veterinary practices.

In a recent Senedd Cymru committee meeting chaired by Paul Davies MS. The Chief Veterinary
Officer for Wales stated she was "monitoring this situation very closely".

It is very clear in my book and many others too that those that should be acting on these serious
issues are failing to do so. Not only that but have failed to do so continually since legislation was
changed in 1999.

| would like to commend the submission of a veterinary surgeon that has also been submitted to

Members of the Committee. As | think this explains the situation far better than | can from someone
who works within the profession. | pay tribute to this veterinary surgeon for doing this .

Pack Page 32



Next Steps.

| was very grateful to Joel James MS and Carolyn Thomas MS for meeting with me last week . | think
it is fair to say they where very surprised to learn the details of how rapidly this corporate takeover
has happened. | also shared with them my intention with others to open a Community Interest
Group run Mobile Veterinary Practice here on Ynys Moén 3. To finance this | have taken out an equity
release agreement on my home . | simply cannot let matters stay the way they are especially here on
the Island. Where we now have no remaining Independently run veterinary practice's.

1: | would like to meet with your Chair Jack Sargeant MS to explain to him further the situation as |
know how committed to animal welfare Jack is .

2: 1 would like a meeting with the Minister Lesley Griffiths MS with my constituency MS Rhun ap
lorworth in attendance too as | know Rhun shares my concerns .

3: 1 would like this matter referred to the Companion Animal Welfare Group Wales- CAWGW and the
Senedd Cymru's Animal Welfare Group chaired by Carolyn Thomas MS.

4: | would like to know from the CMA the reasons they have chosen never to challenge Independent
Vetcare Evidensia.

Thank you for your time and attention and as ever if | can assist the Committee further | will try my
bestto doso.

Cofion Cynnes Dr Linda Joyce-Jones. Ynys Mon 9/10/22.

Pack Page 33



veO - 3 N = 97% 0 09:19

< 20.07.20 Correspondence - Ro... CUREA

SETTING
R VETERINARY
STANDARDS

Mrs Janet Finch-Saunders Ref: Exec Office/P-05-895

By email: petitions @senedd.wales E-mail: b.myring@rcvs.org.uk
Website: www.rcvs.org.uk

20 July 2020

Dear Mrs Finch-Saunders,
Re: P-05-895 Correspondence from the Chair of the Petitions Committee

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the Petition P-05-895, proposing a scheme to help
people access veterinary care for their companion animals.

The Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons (RCVS) is the regulator of veterinary surgeons and
veterinary nurses in the United Kingdom, with responsibility for setting and upholding standards of
conduct and education. The RCVS has no specific jurisdiction under the Veterinary Surgeons Act
1966 over the level of fees charged by veterinary practices. There are no statutory charges and fees
are essentially a matter for negotiation between veterinary surgeon and client. Nor is the RCVS
responsible for regulating the ownership of veterinary businesses, including questions of individual or
corporate ownership. These are matters for the Competition and Markets Authority and, where
appropriate, the courts. Therefore, questions of whether the UK or devolved governments should
provide additional financial support to animal owners fall outside of our purview and it is not
appropriate for us comment on the petition.

We note that the petitioner states, in their separate comments, that “the setting of fees by private
veterinary practice's is a business decision. But this is a matter the RCVS (Royal College of
Veterinary Surgeons) as the body who claims to requlate the profession in the UK can act on if they
choose to do so”. However, this is not the case; we have no powers under the Veterinary Surgeons
Act 1996 or our Royal Charter to set fees.

The petitioner mentions our ‘under care’ review and expresses concerns that the appropriate
authorities will not be consulted. We would like to note that the under care review is not directly
related to veterinary fees, and that it will include an open consultation that any stakeholder may
respond to.

| hope that this response has been useful; please let me know if there are any areas in which we can
provide clarification.

Yours sincerely

Mandisa Greene

President, Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons

Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons Belgravia House 62-64 Horseferry Road London SW1P 2Al
T 020 7222 2001 F 020 7222 2004 E info@rcvs.org.uk wWww.rcvs.org.uk

Pack Page 34



RE2
o A
Department Foreign, Commonwealth

for Environment & Development Office
Food & Rural Affairs

The Rt Hon the Lord Goldsmith of Richmond Park
Minister of State

Dr Linda Joyce-Jones Our ref: PO2022/04258/DT
lindabach@btinternet.com 3 March 2022
Dear Linda,

Thank you for your email of 7 December 2021 about mergers within the veterinary
profession. | apologise for the delay in responding.

| appreciate the concerns that you have raised. Unfortunately, the pressure on my diary is
significant and | am sorry it will not be possible for me to meet with you both. However, |
understand that you feel strongly about this, and | do hope you both find this response
helpful. As a Government, we believe high standards of animal welfare are hallmarks of a
civilized society, but we have not taken a view on the ownership model for veterinary
practices.

| should like to clarify that veterinary practices are private businesses and neither Defra nor
the Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons (RCVS) intervene concerning the level of fees nor
the models of ownership. Fees are set by the market through agreement between the vet
and their clients.

An exception is if individual vets charged prices that were so disproportionate, they
amounted to disgraceful professional conduct, then the RCVS could intervene. For
background, may | refer you to the RCVS’ Code of Conduct for veterinary surgeons, found
here:
https://www.rcvs.org.uk/setting-standards/advice-and-guidance/code-of-professional-
conduct-for-veterinary-surgeons/supporting-guidance/practice-information-and-fees/.

We are continually in touch with the Competition and Markets Authority (CMA) and other
groups such as the RCVS on this matter. As you have correctly identified, it is for the CMA
to investigate possible irregularities affecting business competition. As | am sure you would
appreciate, the CMA does not divulge the details of any pending or active investigations as
this could compromise the success of an investigation.

As you are looking into whether an investigation is being launched into mergers within the
veterinary profession in Wales and the United Kingdom more widely and whether the CMA
is looking at this matter, please see the link below for details:
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/competition-and-markets-authority.

DEFRA, Seacole Building, 2 Marsham street, PaCk Page 35 :‘“f_‘. THE GLOBAL GOALS
London, SW1P 4DF us

www.gov.uk/defra | +44 (0) 3459 335577 www.gov.uk/sustainabledevelopmentgoals

For Sustainable Development


http://www.gov.uk/sustainabledevelopmentgoals
mailto:lindabach@btinternet.com
https://www.rcvs.org.uk/setting-standards/advice-and-guidance/code-of-professional-conduct-for-veterinary-surgeons/supporting-guidance/practice-information-and-fees/
https://www.rcvs.org.uk/setting-standards/advice-and-guidance/code-of-professional-conduct-for-veterinary-surgeons/supporting-guidance/practice-information-and-fees/
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/competition-and-markets-authority

Please also find CMA’s contact details as below:

Competition and Markets Authority
The Cabot

25 Cabot Square

London

El4 4QZ

United Kingdom

Email: general.enquiries@cma.gov.uk

Telephone: 020 3738 6000

Thank you once again for taking the time to contact me about this important issue. Please
let me know if | can be of any further assistance with this or any other matters in the future.

A

THE RT HON THE LORD GOLDSMITH OF RICHMOND PARK

With best wishes,

Pack Page 36 [ disability
B confident


mailto:general.enquiries@cma.gov.uk

MIUFEDDYGON SYMUDOL
o, MOBAEVEIS



-

MUFEDDYGON SYMUDCL
MOBIL VETS



Senedd Cymru | Welsh Parliament
Ymchwil y Senedd | Senedd Research

P-06-1299 Welsh Government 'Freeze
on road building" to include a clause

for cases that pose a danger to life.

Y Pwyllgor Deisebau | 17 Hydref 2020
Petitions Committee | 17 October 2020

Reference: SR22/3945

Petition Number: P-06-1299

Petition title: Welsh Government 'Freeze on road building" to include a clause
for cases that pose a danger to life.

Text of petition: The recent fire at Tylorstown Working Mens’ Club proved that
the infrastructure in the Rhondda Fach needs urgent updating. With the
main road blocked for several days, all traffic was diverted through side
streets causing blockages and congestion. Schools had to be shut, public
transport halted, school transport cancelled, people were unable to get to
work and there was no accessible route for emergency vehicles.

The relief road from Tylorstown to Maerdy has been in the Local Authority's
Local Development Plan for years, it's time the people of the Fach see some
swift action. This can't happen with the Welsh Government's "freeze" on new
roads as stands.

F% Pack Page 39 www.senedd.wales



P-06-1299 Welsh Government 'Freeze on road building" to include a clause for cases that pose a
danger to life.

1. Background

transport, and said he was establishing a panel of “some of the UK's leading
experts on transport and climate change” which would:

...consider setting tests for when new roads are the right solutions for
transport problems, in line with the new Wales transport strategy. And |
want the review to consider how we can shift spending towards better
maintaining our existing roads, rather than building new ones, as was
recommended by the cross-party Economy, Infrastructure and Skills
Committee in the last Senedd.

Transport Strategy (WTS) - which require 45% of Welsh journeys to be made by
sustainable modes by 2045. He said:

To achieve these targets we need a shift away from spending money on
projects that encourage more people to drive, and invest in real
alternatives that give people a meaningful choice.

interim report, and that 55 schemes would be looked at in more detail. These
would “provide a basis for the panel to provide future looking recommendations
on road building in Wales”.

Details, including the panel’'s terms of reference and the list of schemes reviewed,

page identifies five areas which will be “the priority and focus for road investment”

in future “in accordance with the WTS". These include:

investment which maintains the safety and serviceability of the existing
road network in compliance with statutory duties.

has submitted its final report, with findings on the 55 schemes and
‘recommendations and tests on the conditions where building new roads is the
right thing to do”.

Pack Page240


https://record.assembly.wales/Plenary/12317#A66072
https://record.assembly.wales/Plenary/12317#A66072
https://gov.wales/llwybr-newydd-wales-transport-strategy-2021
https://gov.wales/panel-leading-uk-transport-and-climate-change-experts-carry-out-roads-review
https://gov.wales/written-statement-roads-review-initial-report-and-north-wales-transport-commission-a55-j14-16
https://gov.wales/written-statement-roads-review-initial-report-and-north-wales-transport-commission-a55-j14-16
https://gov.wales/roads-review-panel
https://gov.wales/roads-review-panel/terms-reference
https://gov.wales/roads-review-panel/terms-reference
https://gov.wales/written-statement-update-roads-review-final-report

P-06-1299 Welsh Government 'Freeze on road building" to include a clause for cases that pose a
danger to life.

The Deputy Minister said he would consider the report, and publish it with a
Welsh Government response “later in the autumn”.

2. Welsh Government response to the petition

The Deputy Minister's letter to the Chair highlights, as discussed above, that the
terms of reference for the panel includes reference to safety as a future focus for
road investment.

He reiterates that the response to the report will be announced once the Welsh
Government has considered the recommendations.

3. Welsh Parliament action

The roads review has been discussed extensively in the Senedd since it was
announced. Discussion has focused on a wide range of areas, including safety. For
safety considerations in relation to diversion of the road at Newgale to mitigate
flood risk. The First Minister explained:

The fact we have a roads review does not mean that where there are
clear safety considerations, for example, that investment in new road
facilities will not go ahead. It's simply that the bar has to be higher than
it was in the past to make a new road the answer to a problem.

Every effort is made to ensure that the information contained in this
briefing is correct at the time of publication. Readers should be aware that
these briefings are not necessarily updated or otherwise amended to
reflect subsequent changes.

Pack3 Page 41


https://record.assembly.wales/Plenary/12518

Lee Waters AS/MS ( f
Y Dirprwy Weinidog Newid Hinsawdd '\/

Deputy Minister for Climate Change _/J)

Llywodraeth Cymru

Eich cyf/Your ref Petition P-06-1299 Welsh Government

Ein cyf/Our ref LW/01865/22

Jack Sargeant MS
Chair - Petitions committee

03 October 2022
Dear Jack,

Thank you for your letter of 6 September regarding Petition P-06-1299 Welsh Government
'Freeze on road building" to include a clause for cases that pose a danger to life.

The Terms of Reference (ToR) for the Roads Review Panel can be viewed on our website
at Terms of reference: Roads Review Panel | GOV.WALES

As noted in the ToR, in future and in accordance with the Wales Transport Strategy, one of
the priorities and focus for road investment will be on:

e investment which maintains the safety and serviceability of the existing road network in
compliance with statutory duties.

Officials have now begun the process of considering the Panel’s Final Report. Welsh
Government will consider the Panel’s advice to inform decision making on the 55 schemes
the Panel provide specific advice on, plus the future of road investment, in the following
months. We will announce our response to the report once that process is complete.

Yours sincerely,
{Z

.r'l
<

Lee Waters AS/MS
Y Dirprwy Weinidog Newid Hinsawdd
Deputy Minister for Climate Change

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:

0300 0604400
Bae Caerdydd « Cardiff Bay Gohebiaeth.Lee.Waters@llyw.cymru
Caerdydd « Cardiff Correspondence.Lee.Waters@gov.wales

CF99 1SN
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.

We welcome receiving correspondence in WelR.ag'K cB@Qﬁdége received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.


mailto:Gohebiaeth.Lee.Waters@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Lee.Waters@gov.wales
https://gov.wales/roads-review-panel/terms-reference

Senedd Cymru | Welsh Parliament
Ymchwil y Senedd | Senedd Research

Petition: Review the decision

allowing local authorities to increase
council tax premiums on second
homes to 300%

Y Pwyllgor Deisebau | 17 Hydref 2022

Reference: SR22/3945-1

Petition Number: P-06-1300

Petition title: Review the decision allowing local authorities to increase
council tax premiums on second homes to 300%

Text of petition: I'm concerned that the significant contribution second
homeowners make to the local economy have not been fully considered and
explored in relation to this policy. Whilst appreciating that there is a
challenge to ensure that there is affordable housing for local people, placing
such a financial burden on second homeowners is not the answer.

As second homeowners who spend every weekend in our second home, we
feel part of the community and have been warmly welcomed.

More details

We spend our money locally when we visit, including employing local people
to build our home. The amount second homeowners contribute cannot be
underestimated.

Many second homeowners weren't aware of the Welsh Government
consultation ending in November 2021 and therefore feel our voices and
concerns have not been heard.

F% Pack Page 43 www.senedd.wales



Council tax premiums on second homes

1. Background

The term “second home” is commonly used to refer to a property which isn't a
person’s main residence but is used occasionally by the owner, their family and

occupied periodically. To meet this definition there are two conditions that
must be met: there must be no permanent resident of the dwelling and the
dwelling must be substantially furnished.

There's not always a clear distinction between second homes retained for
personal use and those used occasionally or regularly for short-term lets.
Sometimes the term “holiday homes” is used to cover both types of property.
Where a property is used to provide self-catering accommodation for short-
term lets, it may be registered for business (non-domestic) rates if it meets
certain criteria. If it is registered for business rates, it will not be subject to a
council tax premium.

As of January 2022, there were 23,974 second homes in Wales, according to
up a relatively high concentration of the housing stock in areas popular with
holidaymakers, such as Gwynedd, Anglesey and Pembrokeshire.

secondary properties limits local housing stock. Concerns have also been raised
around the effects of second homeownership on community sustainability, as

second homeownership, arguing instead that greater research should be
carried out before legislation is passed.

Pack Page244


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1992/14/section/12B
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1992/14/section/12B
https://gov.wales/council-tax-dwellings-april-2022-march-2023
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-59023722
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-59023722
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Residents/Schools-and-learning/Modernising-Education/Ysgol-Abersoch.aspx
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Residents/Schools-and-learning/Modernising-Education/Ysgol-Abersoch.aspx
https://democracy.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=30406
https://democracy.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=30406
https://senedd.wales/media/pvgfo4of/cr-ld15139-e.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/pvgfo4of/cr-ld15139-e.pdf
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-57204248
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-57204248

Council tax premiums on second homes

The Welsh Government pledged to tackle the second homes issue in Wales as

policy issues regarding second homes. One of Dr Brooks' recommendations was
that local authorities that consider second homes to be a “serious social problem”
should charge the maximum council tax premium.

In July 2021, the Minister for Climate Change announced that the Welsh

_____________________________________________________________________________________________

maximum possible premium charged on second homes to 300%. This comes
into effect on 1 April 2023. A summary of consultation responses can be viewed

Local authorities can determine whether to charge a premium and also set the
level of the premium. Of the nine councils currently charging a premium on

Cwynedd, Pembrokeshire and Swansea.

The increase in the maximum council tax premium was accompanied by

business rates are applied only to ‘genuine businesses which are making a more
substantial contribution to the local economy than the existing criteria require’
and thus deter second homeowners from simply registering their properties as
short-term lets to avoid the new premium.

The Minister for Finance and Local Government has written to the Chair of the
Petitions Committee in response to this petition. In her letter, the Minister
outlined the opportunities stakeholders had received to contribute to the

Pack Page 45


https://gov.wales/co-operation-agreement-2021
https://gov.wales/second-homes-developing-new-policies
https://gov.wales/second-homes-developing-new-policies
https://gov.wales/welsh-government-announces-three-pronged-approach-address-second-homes-crisis
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/7/part/7/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/7/part/7/enacted
https://gov.wales/local-taxes-second-homes-and-self-catering-accommodation
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2022/370/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2022/370/contents/made
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2022-03/local-taxes-for-second-homes-and-self-catering.pdf
https://gov.wales/council-tax-dwellings-april-2022-march-2023
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/en/wsi/2022/563/made
https://senedd.wales/media/40gf3dzl/sub-ld15122-em-e.pdf

Council tax premiums on second homes

consultation process on tax reform. She also stressed that the decision to charge
the full 300% premium was entirely down to individual local authorities.

3. Welsh Parliament action

March 2022 as part of their inquiry into the Welsh Government’'s ongoing action
on second homes. The 300% premium was a key issue discussed.

on 22 March.

The scrutiny report on the regulations produced by the Legislation, Justice and
Constitution Committee can be viewed here.

Every effort is made to ensure that the information contained in this
briefing is correct at the time of publication. Readers should be aware that
these briefings are not necessarily updated or otherwise amended to
reflect subsequent changes.

Pack Page446


https://record.senedd.wales/Committee/12649#C414278
https://senedd.wales/media/pvgfo4of/cr-ld15139-e.pdf
https://record.assembly.wales/Plenary/13008#A74819
https://record.assembly.wales/Plenary/13008#A74819
https://record.senedd.wales/Plenary/12659#A71180
https://senedd.wales/media/fcqdmcpv/cr-ld15017-e.pdf

Rebecca Evans AS/MS
Y Gweinidog Cyllid a Llywodraeth Leol
Minister for Finance and Local Government

Llywodraeth Cymru
Welsh Government

Eich cyf/Your ref: P-06-1300
Ein cyf/Our ref: RE/00727/22

Jack Sargeant MS

Chair — Petitions Committee
Senedd Cymru

Cardiff Bay

Cardiff

CF99 1SN

21 September 2022

Dear Jack,

Thank you for your letter regarding ‘Petition P-06-1300 Review the decision allowing local
authorities to increase council tax premiums on second homes to 300%’.

Ensuring that local people can live affordably in the communities in which they grew up, and
the health and vitality of Welsh as a thriving community language, are key priorities for the
Welsh Government.

We recognise second home owners can make an important contribution to our local
economies, and in Wales we cherish our reputation as a welcoming society. However, we
want to ensure that all homeowners and businesses make a fair contribution to the
communities in which they own or let property. That is why the we consulted on possible
changes to local taxes for second homes and self-catering accommodation, as one part of
the Welsh Government’s three-pronged approach to address issues of affordability and the
impact large numbers of second homes and holiday lets can have on communities and the
Welsh language.

Views on the policy behind these plans were invited as part of a 12-week consultation which
looked at local taxes for second homes and self-catering accommodation. The consultation
was open from 25 August to 17 November 2021 and received almost 1,000 responses. A
summary of responses was published on 1 March.

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:
0300 0604400

Bae Caerdydd . Cardiff Bay Correspondence.Rebecca.Evans@gov.wales
Caerdydd . Cardiff Gohebiaeth.Rebecca.Evans@llyw.cymru
CF99 1SN

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh. Any coﬁ%aﬁkeﬁ%alg@ivédzn Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.


mailto:Correspondence.Rebecca.Evans@gov.wales
mailto:Gohebiaeth.Rebecca.Evans@llyw.cymru
mailto:Government.Committee.Business@gov.wales
https://gov.wales/welsh-government-announces-three-pronged-approach-address-second-homes-crisis
https://gov.wales/local-taxes-second-homes-and-self-catering-accommodation

When formulating this policy, a range of evidence was considered including the consultation
responses. After careful consideration of the evidence, the Council Tax (Long-term Empty
Dwellings and Dwellings Occupied Periodically) (Wales) Regulations 2022 were made. They
increase the maximum level at which local authorities can choose to set council tax premiums
on second homes and long-term empty properties to 300%. This will be effective from 1 April
2023.

To accompany the Regulations, an Explanatory Memorandum was required. Part 2 of this
document is the Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) of the Regulations. RIAs are an integral
part of the policy-making and legislative process. RIAs provide Welsh Ministers, the
Accounting Officer, Senedd Cymru and stakeholders with information on the likely impact of
proposed legislation.

This legislation was subject to scrutiny and debate and approved through the affirmative
procedure in the Senedd on 22 March. The scrutiny report of the Legislation, Justice and
Constitution Committee on the Regulations is available at: cr-ld15017-e.pdf (senedd.wales).

The ability to charge additional council tax premiums has been welcomed as a mechanism
for local authorities to mitigate the negative impacts that second homes and long-term empty
properties can have. While many of the opportunities for addressing housing issues through
premiums have not yet been fully realised, increasing the maximum level will enable local
authorities to decide a level appropriate for their individual local circumstances when the time
is right for them. It will be for individual authorities to decide whether to make use of the higher
maximum allowed for council tax premiums. It should not be assumed that authorities will
move to the new maximum of 300% from 1 April 2023.

Each authority needs to consider all the possible effects in deciding whether to make use of
their discretionary powers to introduce a premium and must make a full assessment of
possible impacts. This includes taking account of the effect of introducing premiums on
communities, the housing market and the local economy. Each local authority can set the
premium at any level up to the maximum and can apply different premiums to second homes
and long-term empty dwellings. It is a matter for individual authorities as to whether they use
their discretionary powers to reduce council tax liability in respect of a premium.

When publishing a consultation the Welsh Government gives consideration on how to reach
its target audience. To publicise the consultation on local taxes for second homes and
self-catering accommodation, | issued a Written Statement announcing the launch of the
consultation. This was published on the Welsh Government website and circulated to Senedd
Members who could then bring the consultation to their constituents’ attention. In addition the
Welsh Government notified a range of stakeholders including local authorities, sector
representative bodies and relevant professional bodies/associations. All were requested to
pass on the details of the consultation.

The Welsh Government also used its social media channels to publicise the launch of the
consultation. The issues of second homes, self-catering accommodation and council tax
premiums are often highlighted in the media and the consultation was widely reported in local
and national media.

Pack Page 48


https://senedd.wales/media/h4pbo1ud/sub-ld14989-em-e.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/fcqdmcpv/cr-ld15017-e.pdf

We value the views of our stakeholders. To make sure citizens can contribute to future
Welsh Government council tax consultations | would encourage them to sign up for our
regular email newsletters about our consultations https://gov.wales/subscribe/consultations

Yours sincerely,

/&MM CUIAS.

Rebecca Evans AS/MS
Y Gweinidog Cyllid a Llywodraeth Leol
Minister for Finance and Local Government

Pack Page 49


https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fgov.wales%2Fsubscribe%2Fconsultations&data=05%7C01%7CSarah.Manning%40gov.wales%7Cd837f19c03554a6d1ab808da59080bd5%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C0%7C637920188327194499%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=00QL2mV0hjK5qP47L4MjYQs9Q0BakmnolTI0trpAQA8%3D&reserved=0

sernada Cyawru | Nr=tsti Parliament
Ymchwil y Senedd | Senedd Research

Protect Mid-Wales’ unique Cambrian

Mountains: designate them an Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty

Y Pwyllgor Deisebau | 17 Hydref 2022
Petitions Committee | 17 October 2022

Reference: SR22/3945-7

Petition Number: P-06-1302

Petition title: Protect Mid-Wales' unique Cambrian Mountains: designate
them an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty

Text of petition: The Cambrian Mountains: endless open skies, outstanding
biodiversity, spectacular hills and valleys, 5000 years' heritage of Welsh
language, farming and mining. Their sense of immense space and peace is
rare.

Sadly, conservation of these uplands gets little attention. Farms are bought
up for conifer planting or for large wind farms despite the lack of
infrastructure.

So beautiful a region needs protection AND longer term rural employment.
Designate the Cambrians as Mid-Wales' first AONB!

The Cambrian Mountains' peatlands mitigate climate change by absorbing
manmade carbon, and reduce river flooding. Biodiverse native woodlands
and fens nurture precious plants, animals and birds. Birds of prey cruise the
skies; red squirrels, otters and pine martens roam; butterflies, dragonflies,
ladybirds and 15 kinds of dung-beetles call it home! Scattered farms, cairns,
chapels and ruins record people’s lives and work here since the Bronze Age.

AONB designation would bring balance between development, local
communities’ needs AND people’s need for green space. Existing AONBs like

% Pack Page 50 www.senedd.wales



Protect Mid-Wales' unique Cambrian Mountains: designate them an Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty

Gower, Anglesey, Clwydian Hills and Dee Valley thrive while promoting and
preserving Welsh landscapes for all.

We need to stop and think: Politicians raise concerns over windfarm plans
(mynewtown.co.uk). Large scale afforestation will decimate rural communities
warns farming union (nation.cymru). Give the Cambrian Mountains prestige
AONB branding and coherent management and watch the region flourish!

1. Background

Nationally important landscapes in Wales are designated as Areas of Outstanding

Landscapes’ cover around 25% of Wales. Although National Parks and AONBs
have different statutory purposes, together they seek to:

. conserve and enhance natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage; and

. promote opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of their
special qualities.

the making of access orders and the establishment of conservation boards.

AONB:s differ from National Parks in that they lack the statutory purpose to
promote opportunities for the public to enjoy and understand the area.

and Gower - additionally the Wye Valley AONB spans England and Wales), and 3
National Parks (Brecon Beacons, Pembrokeshire Coast and Snowdonia).

Pack Page 51


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Geo6/12-13-14/97
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Geo6/12-13-14/97
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/wildlife-and-biodiversity/protected-areas-of-land-and-seas/types-of-protected-areas-of-land-and-sea/?lang=en
https://law.gov.wales/environment/countryside-and-access/protected-landscapes#:~:text=In%20Wales%20there%20are%20three,designation%20confirmed%2017%20April%201957).
https://www.wales.com/visit/national-parks-and-aonb

Protect Mid-Wales' unique Cambrian Mountains: designhate them an Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty

Designating AONBs

The power to designate AONBs was originally contained in the 1949 Act but was

(which is not already a National Park) as an AONB if the area is of such
outstanding natural beauty that it should be conserved and enhanced. The

In response to this petition, the Minister for Climate Change (hereafter, ‘the
Minister’) says NRW is “currently examining the case for designating a new
National Park in north-east Wales’, adding that this is an “extensive and exhaustive
process and will be the priority for the coming years for NRW in terms of new
designations”.

Planning

protection from inappropriate developments” (see section 6.3.8, page 134).

The granting of AONB status may therefore result in the local planning authority
(LPA) applying stricter development controls in the area when producing the local
development plan, and when deciding planning applications.

PPW states that “major developments should not take place in National Parks or
AONBSs except in exceptional circumstances’. PPW is accompanied by the

“applications for large-scale wind and solar will not be permitted in National Parks
and [AONBs]".

The granting of AONB status would also have an impact on smaller household

lies to prepare and publish an AONB management plan which must be reviewed
every 5 years. This will have resource implications for the local authority.

Pack Page 52


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/37/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/37/section/82
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/37/section/83
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/wildlife-and-biodiversity/protected-areas-of-land-and-seas/types-of-protected-areas-of-land-and-sea/?lang=en
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fgov.wales%2Fplanning-policy-wales&data=05%7C01%7CFrancesca.Howorth%40senedd.wales%7Cac72ceb4437540ad8a9008da8b5c8425%7C38dc5129340c45148a044e8ef2771564%7C0%7C0%7C637975526707900425%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=OZwTb5wQYNYL5Boq3kdmXwR1an1yFkjZ0GtjgR3Kb%2FE%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fgov.wales%2Fplanning-policy-wales&data=05%7C01%7CFrancesca.Howorth%40senedd.wales%7Cac72ceb4437540ad8a9008da8b5c8425%7C38dc5129340c45148a044e8ef2771564%7C0%7C0%7C637975526707900425%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=OZwTb5wQYNYL5Boq3kdmXwR1an1yFkjZ0GtjgR3Kb%2FE%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fgov.wales%2Ffuture-wales-national-plan-2040-0&data=05%7C01%7CFrancesca.Howorth%40senedd.wales%7Cac72ceb4437540ad8a9008da8b5c8425%7C38dc5129340c45148a044e8ef2771564%7C0%7C0%7C637975526707900425%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=fYTrNZce2dUtKe9nLAaWUuonOCbnj8YOZwu%2BH4qsYFE%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fgov.wales%2Ffuture-wales-national-plan-2040-0&data=05%7C01%7CFrancesca.Howorth%40senedd.wales%7Cac72ceb4437540ad8a9008da8b5c8425%7C38dc5129340c45148a044e8ef2771564%7C0%7C0%7C637975526707900425%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=fYTrNZce2dUtKe9nLAaWUuonOCbnj8YOZwu%2BH4qsYFE%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fresearch.senedd.wales%2Fresearch-articles%2Fthe-planning-series-planning-permission-and-developments-that-don-t-need-planning-permission%2F&data=05%7C01%7CFrancesca.Howorth%40senedd.wales%7Cac72ceb4437540ad8a9008da8b5c8425%7C38dc5129340c45148a044e8ef2771564%7C0%7C0%7C637975526707900425%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=rW%2Bn1CB1kOM2Onb5jQ2GKt9THJgDsJUP4VeEN88bJR4%3D&reserved=0
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/37/section/89

Protect Mid-Wales' unique Cambrian Mountains: designate them an Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty

2. Welsh Government action

A review of AONB and National Parks was undertaken in 2015, the resulting

AONBs and National Parks in Wales:

. they are Valued Places;
. they contain Resilient Environments;
. they support Resilient Communities; and

. the AONB partnerships and National Park Authorities must adopt
Resilient Ways of Working.

designate a new National Park to cover the Clwydian Range and Dee Valley,
which is currently an AONB.

In her response to this petition, the Minister says NRW is “committed to
undertaking an all-Wales technical assessment of natural beauty”

It is intended that this will assess areas against the natural beauty criteria
which will help to assess their potential need for future protection.

The Minister extends an invitation to the petitioner to meet with Welsh
Government officials, together with NRW officers, to “discuss some aspects of the
proposal to designate in greater detail”.

3. Welsh Parliament action

There has been no Senedd activity regarding the AONB designation of the
Cambrian Mountains.

Pack Page 53


https://gov.wales/review-areas-outstanding-natural-beauty-and-national-parks-2015
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/areas-outstanding-natural-beauty-national-parks-2017-report.pdf
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/what-s-next-for-designated-landscapes-in-wales/
https://gov.wales/priorities-areas-outstanding-natural-beauty-and-national-parks-2018-valued-and-resilient
https://gov.wales/priorities-areas-outstanding-natural-beauty-and-national-parks-2018-valued-and-resilient
https://gov.wales/programme-for-government-2021-to-2026-html

Protect Mid-Wales' unique Cambrian Mountains: designhate them an Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty

Every effort is made to ensure that the information contained in this
briefing is correct at the time of publication. Readers should be aware that
these briefings are not necessarily updated or otherwise amended to
reflect subsequent changes.

Pack Page 54



4

Julie James AS/MS f"'} ﬁ(

Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd '\/

Minister for Climate Change J d _~
/s

Ein cyf/Our ref JJ/02000/22

Llywodraeth Cymru

Jack Sargeant MS
g Welsh Government

Chair - Petitions committee
Senedd Cymru

Cardiff Bay

Cardiff CF99 1SN

20 September 2022

Dear Jack Sargeant MS,

Thank you for your letter of 6 September 2022 regarding Lorna Brazell’s petition to
designate the Cambrian Mountains as an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB).

Natural Resources Wales is responsible for undertaking the process of designating AONBs
and National Parks in Wales, and they are currently examining the case for designating a
new National Park in north-east Wales. This is an extensive and exhaustive process and will
be the priority for the coming years for NRW in terms of new designations. We also have
much to do to improve and empower current designations to contribute more significantly to
combatting the nature and climate crises.

Looking further ahead, however, as part of their designation programme during the next 2-3
years, NRW has also committed to undertaking an all-Wales technical assessment of
natural beauty. It is intended that this will assess areas against the natural beauty criteria
which will help to assess their potential need for future protection. This work will clearly be
of interest to those campaigning for AONB status when taken forward.

For designations to be taken forward it is important to demonstrate a level of local support
including local political support for designation. Until recently the Cambrian Mountains
Society was campaigning for National Park, rather than AONB, status. | am aware that a
proposal was made by the Cambrian Mountains Initiative (CMI), a separate body, that is not
seeking a top-down statutory designation but instead maps out an alternative grass-roots
approach. A question remains to the extent campaigners have secured local support and
aligned different, sometimes conflicting, approaches to protection.

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:
0300 0604400
Bae Caerdydd « Cardiff Bay Gohebiaeth.Julie. James@llyw.cymru
Caerdydd « Cardiff CF99 1SN Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh. Any coEe@pGrl@leRafg@iv@ﬁn Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.



mailto:Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales

| am happy for officials, together with NRW officers, to meet Lorna to discuss some aspects
of the proposal to designate in greater detail. | will follow these discussions closely.

Yours sincerely,

\ 2 \
Iy Jamss
//” x.\ y

N

Julie James AS/MS
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd
Minister for Climate Change

Pack Page 56



1 G abed yoed

P-06-1302 Protect Mid-Wales’ unique Cambrian Mountains: designate them an Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty, Correspondence - Petitioner to Committee, 10.10.22

o

N\

5

<

3

3| B
2\
z

A

\

o S )

Sz e

= G
L\e“ y"’o’
(R

VS
L

Do
%ppAukW

Cambrian Mountains Society/ Petitioner’s response to Minister’s points
Thank you for the opportunity to respond to Minister James’ letters (to the Committee Chair and to us). We address each of her points in turn, below.

1. NRW are busy.
We understand that the Clwyd Hills and Dee Valley project is consuming substantial resources; indeed, it appears that it was necessary for additional staff
recruitment and training to take place in order to progress the project. We do not expect AONB designation for the Cambrian Mountains to take place

overnight. Rather, we want to see

e agreement in principle that the project should be undertaken, and
e acommitment to a practicable timetable,

in the course of this Senedd. The designation of the Cambrian Mountains as a protected landscape has been under discussion, one way or another, since
1968; designation was agreed in 1972 but then not implemented. Now, not in another 5, 10 or 50 years, is the time!

2. Current designations need improving

Drawing on the Marsden Review of 2014 and the subsequent Future Landscapes report in 2017, it is clear that improvement to the system of designations
is possible. But it is also clear from the time that has elapsed since those reports that this is not just a multi-year but a multi-decade aspiration.

Time is not on our side in mid-Wales: development and afforestation are taking place now. If a decision on designation is postponed until the ideal solution
has been devised and the legislation drafted and implemented, it is quite possible that the natural beauty of these uplands will have been degraded beyond
the point where designation under whatever new framework is settled upon is no longer appropriate. Action is needed in the short term; the designation
can then, once the new scheme is in place, be migrated across to it along with the migration of the currently designated landscape.

www.cambrian-mountains.co.uk

© October/Hydref 2022
Charity registration no. 1113037

06


http://www.cambrian-mountains.co.uk/

gG abed Yoed

B %
s
& \ °,
< a4z
c <
] ' H
z\ B
cﬁ G /o
D QQ”
M &
e . <
> ena®

3. Anall -Wales technical assessment of natural beauty coming in 2-3 years.

NRW perform regular LandMap assessments, most recently in 2021. Whilst we appreciate that criteria may be modified and an all-Wales exercise will
certainly be valuable, we see no reason why designation of a landscape long-acknowledged as meeting the current criteria (since at least the National Park
proposal of 1972, itself following recommendations made in 1968) should await yet a further round of assessment. We attach copies of the several NRW
assessments relied upon in the Technical Report produced by White Consultants for the Cambrian Mountains Initiative (“CMI”), referred to below, which
demonstrate clearly that the Cambrian Mountains meet the statutory criteria for designation.

4. Local support

Our local support speaks for itself in the form of the 12,500 signatures we have collected, the vast majority collected at local events including the Royal
Welsh Show, National Eisteddfod and other Ceredigion events and venues over the summer of 2022.

Should further evidence be required, we also rely upon the Technical Report drawn up for CMI by White Consultant is 2019 following an extensive
programme of local consultation with Town and Community Councils around the Cambrian Mountains. For ease of reference (the report being a very long
document) two of the tables summarising the results of that consultation are set out below (with numerical scoring added). In summary, AONB designation
was strongly favoured by CMI’s consultees compared to all other models other than a ‘customised’ solution: introduction of a French model, which exists
nowhere in the UK and is funded under a French model of local taxation (unlikely to be possible in Wales). The French model’s combined score was 27,
compared to 26 for AONB; the differential is meaningless compared to the legislative and political difficulty of bringing it into existence. Indeed, if the score
of ‘uncertain’ which the consultation gave to AONB designation under the theme of ‘flexibility’ were instead the more appropriate ‘positive’ (since flexibility
is one of the very highlights of the AONB Partnership model) then AONB designation would be the highest scoring, preferred option. Itis further
noteworthy that the French model scores a negative rating on the theme of bureaucracy, while the AONB model is not rated negative for any theme or
topic.

5. Past campaigning in favour of a National Park

CMS, founded in 2005, has since 2006 consistently campaigned for AONB designation. We have sound justifications for our proposal as it stands. We are
not currently campaigning for a National Park designation, and have no plans to do so in the future.

© October/Hydref 2022 www.cambrian-mountains.co.uk

Charity registration no. 1113037
i@


http://www.cambrian-mountains.co.uk/

65 abed 3oed

%
& \ (A
hd
: = 4z
2 N S
o
z s
/ 2
Cn“ /,f
% L)
Yo, MO
- enq

6. Isthe CMI approach (“bottom up”) to be preferred and have CMS aligned our different, sometimes conflicting, approach to protection?

It was in fact the outcome of the ‘bottom up’ consultation process undertaken by CMI, carrying out local meetings and discussions as part of their survey,
set out in White Consultants’ resulting Technical Report, which inspired us to re-launch our campaign seeking AONB designation. The AONB campaign is
accordingly equally as ‘bottom up’ as CMI’s proposal for discussion.

In any event, we do not consider that there is any conflict in practice between the approaches to protection. The AONB model itself is very similar to the
Regional Natural Park model, in that the latter is managed by a syndicat mixte, a local authority grouping which is a public corporation in charge of the
implementation of the Park charter, a territorial project approved by all members. An AONB is managed by an AONB Partnership which comprises the
relevant local authorities and other stakeholders or representatives of stakeholder groups. The AONB Partnership implements the AONB Management plan
which is drawn up in consultation with stakeholders. The area covered by the Regional Natural Park is agreed between the participating communities; we
assume that the discussion of area to be included within an AONB would, likewise, include an opportunity for the relevant communities to input.

7. Has CMI progressed their proposal at all?

In order to respond to this question we have spoken to CMI, who tell us that they were contracted only to commission and supervise the preparation of the
report by White Consultants. We understand that they had not planned to do any further work, and have had no further engagement with the issue of

designation.

www.cambrian-mountains.co.uk

© October/Hydref 2022

Charity registration no. 1113037
i@


http://www.cambrian-mountains.co.uk/

09 abed xoed

o",’)

& 2
-$ %
>
s 4%
3| 2
z J a
< 5

© % /,f

"wp\\ Y, QQ

Yo, Cy)
> o ena

WHITE CONSULTANTS TECHNICAL REPORT CHARTS 2 AND 4
WITH NUMERICAL SUMMARIES

www.cambrian-mountains.co.u

© October/Hydref 2022

Charity registration no. 1113037
i@


http://www.cambrian-mountains.co.uk/

T9 abied »oed

Consistency matrix: themes
 Toweaucat | o i ton |Coonnaion | Dafion |oesiraton | deiy | Repesetaton | lenbity

National Park

AONB

Biosphere
Reserve

Geopark

National Scenic
Area (Scotland)

French Regional
Natural Park

Scottish Regional
Park

English Regional
Park

Welsh Valleys
Regional Park

Colour code: FNSNEINOSENEISSNONEE positive response uncertain [EEEENSIESHONSE

© October/Hydref 2022 www.cambrian-mountains.co.uk

Charity registration no. 1113037


http://www.cambrian-mountains.co.uk/

Consistency with combined themes

* National Scenic Area (Scotland)
* French Regional Natural Park

* Scottish Regional Park

* English Regional Park

* Welsh Valleys Regional Park

Scoring: Strong positive =3 =2
T
Q * National Park
Q + AONB
=e) * Biosphere Reserve
«9:3 * Geopark
(9]
(o))
N

© October/Hydref 2022
Charity registration no. 1113037

=0 Negative=-1

10
16
12
10
7

13
6

12
13

www.cambrian-mountains.co.uk

no



http://www.cambrian-mountains.co.uk/

€9 abied oed

Consistency matrix: topics

I S (e S [
National Park I N N N

AONB

Biosphere Reserve

Geopark

National Scenic Area
(Scotland)

French Regional
Natural Park

English Regional Park

Welsh Valleys
Regional Park

Colour code: FNSNEINOSENEISSNONEE positive response uncertain [EEEENSIESHONSE

© October/Hydref 2022
Charity registration no. 1113037

www.cambrian-mountains.co.uk

[0



http://www.cambrian-mountains.co.uk/

Consistency with combined topics

* National Scenic Area (Scotland)
* French Regional Natural Park

* Scottish Regional Park

* English Regional Park

* Welsh Valleys Regional Park

Scoring: Strong positive =3 =2
T
Q * National Park
Q + AONB
=e) * Biosphere Reserve
«9:3 * Geopark
(9]
(ep}
N

© October/Hydref 2022
Charity registration no. 1113037

=0 Negative=-1

12
10

www.cambrian-mountains.co.uk

no



http://www.cambrian-mountains.co.uk/

G9 abed 3oed

Overall ranking

* National Park

* AONB

* Biosphere Reserve

* Geopark

* National Scenic Area (Scotland)
* French Regional Natural Park

* Scottish Regional Park

* English Regional Park

* Welsh Valleys Regional Park

© October/Hydref 2022
Charity registration no. 1113037

www.cambrian-mountains.co.uk

[0



http://www.cambrian-mountains.co.uk/

-

-

—

ARbBieaN aavi
Elo e R Elol 1ok

ey Hreyad
#yapee ]
g T L St

B 23 S

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2019 Figure A7 - LANDM AP‘
Landscape habitats value

Project: Landscape Status for the Cambrian Mountains - a feasibility study
Client:  Cambrian Mountains Initiative

Pack Page 66 Date:  Apr 2019




| SOTC——

AGolaAd BaATV

E,ZCE'RE:B?&SO&

|

kilometres

2 Seits ST dan .
Contains OS data @ Crown copyright and database right 2019 Figure A9 - LANDMAP
-® Visual and sensory value

| www.whiteconsultants.co.uk Project: Landscape Status for the Cambrian Mountains - a feasibility study
Client:  Cambrian Mountains Initiative

Pack Page 673, 0>




kilometres

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2019 Figure A10 - LANDM
Historic landscape value

- www.whiteconsultants.co.uk Project: Landscape Status for the Cambrian Mountains - a feasibility study

e ¥ Client: ~ Cambrian Mountains Initiative
Pack Page 68 Deter - Apeh 2019
Status:  Final



.

S —————

ARDIGAW BoA Y f

ElCc EREDILEI O N

Cultural landscape value

Project: Landscape Status for the Cambrian Mountains - a feasibility study
lient:  Cambrian Mountains Initiative
Pack Page 69 s 201

Final




Agenda Item 3.1

P-05-1106 Introduce Personal Health Budgets and Personalised Care in
Wales

This petition was submitted by Rhys Bowler having collected a total of 779
signatures.

Text of Petition:

Rhys has Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy and lives in daily fear for his life, left
alone for hours hoping the ventilator he needs to breathe doesn't break. He
must choose between poorly funded social care and an NHS Continuing
Healthcare package that takes away his choice over who cares for him.

If Rhys lived in England he would have a personal health budget, allowing
him to use NHS Continuing Healthcare while still being able to choose who
cares for him. This is not available in Wales

Additional Information:
I'm Rhys, 33 and living with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy in Pontypridd,
Wales. | have extremely limited mobility and need a ventilator to breathe.

I've employed my own care assistants for decades and have a lot of
experience of training and employing them. I've had bad experiences using
agencies and not having a say in who cares for me. | want to choose the care
assistants | want. | want to know who is coming in my home to help me with
my intimate personal care, and | want them to be people | trust and have
trained in how best to provide my care. Don't let my experience go to waste!

| want a Personal Health Budget so | can have both 24 hour care and a choice
over who my care assistants are. This has been available in England since
2014, it's time Wales took this seriously and started giving people real
choice and control about the care they receive.

Senedd Constituency and Region

e Pontypridd
e South Wales Central

Pack Page 70



Julie Morgan AS/MS ’\/ (f

Y Dirprwy Weinidog Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol oo
Deputy Minister for Social Services J)

Llywodraeth Cymru

Eich cyf/Your ref P-05-1106 Welsh Government
Ein cyf/Our ref IMSS/00664/22

Jack Sargeant MS

Chair - Petitions committee
Senedd Cymru

Cardiff Bay

Cardiff

CF99 1SN

6 July 2022
Dear Jack,

Thank you for your letter, dated 7 June 2022, regarding Petition P-05-1106 — ‘Introduce
Personal Health Budgets and Personalised Care in Wales'.

We note the concern regarding the lack of independence and control some individuals have
over their care provision. To this end we have set out a specific commitment to ‘Improve the
interface between Continuing Health Care (CHC) and direct payments’ within our
Programme for Government (PfG). To deliver on this commitment we have already put in
motion a number of actions with the aim to introduce further flexibility for people using CHCs
which | would like to share with you and the Committee.

The Welsh Government published ‘Continuing NHS Healthcare — the National Framework
for Implementation in Wales’ in 2014 that sets out the policy for eligibility for CHC and the
responsibilities of NHS organisations and local authorities under the Framework and related
matters. Since the initial publication we have consulted closely with stakeholders to review
and revise the framework.

The revised version of the Framework was published in 2021 and it has been operational as
of 1 April 2022.

The revised framework includes a range of options and measures to ensure voice and
control for individuals, including:

¢ health boards employing personnel (either directly or via an agency) who were
previously employed by the individual via direct payments

e health boards commissioning an Independent User Trust (IUTs), potentially set
up by a family member of the person receiving care, to manage that person’s

care.
Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:
0300 0604400
Bae Caerdydd « Cardiff Bay Gohebiaeth.Julie.Morgan®@llyw.cymru
Caerdydd « Cardiff Correspondence. Julie.Morgan@gov.wales

CF99 1SN
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.

We welcome receiving correspondence in WelR.aQ'K cB@QﬁdZnZe received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.


mailto:Gohebiaeth.Julie.Morgan@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Julie.Morgan@gov.wales
mailto:Government.Committee.Business@gov.wales

The framework also states that further guidance on these measures will be published on the
Welsh Government website.

To support the broader delivery of our PfG commitments, we have formed a CHC/direct
payments Working Group to ensure empowerment and inclusion of disabled people in
development of policy in this area. The group includes representatives from the Welsh
Government (Health, Social Care, Equality), health boards, local authorities, third sector
groups, disability organisations, disabled people and people with lived experience, the
Disability Equality Forum and the Disability Rights Taskforce. This group is now co-
producing the guidance to support voice and control.

The group has agreed that the additional guidance should include a range of measures,
such as general guidance on voice and control and person-centred care, IUTs, health
boards employing staff previously employed via direct payments, notional budgets as well
as proposing some new solutions being trialled by some health boards in the form of a
personal care budget.

We would like to thank the Committee for raising these issues and providing the suggested
actions with regards to strengthening the promotion, guidance and support around IUTs.
We will include these considerations as part of our ongoing work to develop the guidance.
and will take this forward through a co-productive approach utilising the expertise of our
Working Group.

This work will continue over the coming months, and we would welcome the opportunity to
return to the Committee with an update on the progress in due course.

Yours sincerely,

= .
Julie Morgan AS/MS
Y Dirprwy Weinidog Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol

Deputy Minister for Social Services

Pack Page 73



Agenda Item 3.2

P-06-1163 Extend the postgraduate STEMM bursary to all MSc students in
Wales

This petition was submitted by Rachel Wrathall, having collected a total of 88
signatures.

Text of Petition:

In June 2019 Welsh Government announced a bursary scheme to increase the
number of Welsh graduates who remained or returned to Wales to undertake
a master’s degree in Science, Technology, Engineering, Mathematics or
Medicine (also known as ‘STEMM’ subjects). This funding currently only
extends to traditional Universities, excluding students who choose a STEMM
Masters through alternative providers. This excludes some students, who
need more flexibility in STEMM subject matter or course delivery.

Additional Information:

The Diamond review recommended that efforts are made "to enable students
to study in the mode that best supports their circumstances”. (The Review of
Higher Education Funding and Student Finance Arrangements in Wales,
2016).

Currently students studying for STEMM Masters at the Centre for Alternative
Technology (CAT) School of the Environment in Machynlleth are excluded
from Welsh Government's STEMM bursary funding. The courses provided at
CAT have a specific sustainability focus, which aligns with Welsh Government
efforts to change the course of Wales onto a more sustainable path (e.qg.
through principles outlined in the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales)
Act 2015).

Teaching at CAT is flexible, and unlike traditional universities, enables
students to study a taught Masters whilst continuing work/caring

responsibilities.

We believe that the exclusion of STEMM students at organisations like CAT
from STEMM bursary funding is counter to the STEMM bursary policy aims.

Senedd Constituency and Region

Pack Page 74



e Vale of Glamorgan
e South Wales Central

Pack Page 75



Agenda Item 3.3
P-06-1240 Improve health services for people with epilepsy living in Wales

This petition was submitted by Janet Paterson, having collected a total of
1,334 signatures.

Text of Petition:
We are concerned that the current services for people with epilepsy living in
Wales are not providing people with the help and support they need.

Epilepsy Action recommends a caseload of no more than 250 people per
Epilepsy Specialist Nurse (ESN), in order to minimise the effects of their
condition and provide the best possible care. Currently no area in Wales is
meeting this recommendation.

There is a lack of ESNs and waiting times to see neurologists are over 12

months in many areas.

Additional Information:

Increasing the number of ESNs in all health boards across Wales would help
significantly improve access to services and the support that people with
epilepsy receive.

ESNs are vital team members providing care to people with epilepsy. They
work alongside consultant neurologists and other healthcare professionals to
provide essential advice and support during and, as importantly, in-between
appointments.

ESNs are often the first point of contact for people with epilepsy who require
advice or support related to their condition and their contribution is
invaluable. The crucial role of epilepsy specialist nurses in caring for and
supporting people with epilepsy is set out in Epilepsy Action’s recent
ESPENTE report https://www.epilepsy.org.uk/research/espente

In addition to increasing the number of ESNs, all epilepsy services in Wales
need more funding to ensure that people with epilepsy receive the support
and care they need.

Pack Page 76


https://www.epilepsy.org.uk/research/espente

Senedd Constituency and Region
e Arfon
e North Wales

Pack Page 77



7
Eluned Morgan AS/MS f"'} ﬁ(

Y Gweinidog lechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol '\\/ J(
Minister for Health and Social Services

/s
Eich cyf/Your ref P-06-1240 Llywodraeth Cymru
Ein cyf/Our ref EM/02219/22 Welsh Government

Jack Sargeant MS

Chair - Petitions Committee

Senedd Cymru

Cardiff Bay

Cardiff

CF99 1SN
Government.Committee.Business@gov.wales

21 July 2022
Dear Jack,

Thank you for your letter of 7 June as Chair of the Petitions Committee about Petition P-06-
1240 Improve health services for people with epilepsy living in Wales, and the question from
the committee about how the Welsh Government are monitoring that each health board has
the appropriate level of support that is needed for people with epilepsy.

Welsh Government set the strategy, vision, and expectations for neurological services,
including epilepsy, through the Neurological Conditions Implementation Plan. The
implementation of this plan has and continues to be supported by the Neurological
Conditions Implementation Group (NCIG) and the national Clinical Lead for Neurological
Conditions.

The NCIG and clinical lead have highlighted several challenges in relation to monitoring
services for those people with neurological conditions, including the availability, quality and
timeliness of data related to neurological conditions, including epilepsy. This is an area ripe
for improvement, and one that has been prioritised by the clinical lead and NCIG, who are
currently working with the Value Based Health Care team and Digital Health and Care
Wales to develop a data dashboard for epilepsy. This will provide valuable information from
a monitoring and assurance perspective, but also help to support health boards to develop
business cases for developing services for people with epilepsy going forward. An early
version of the dashboard has been published, but development is continuing to include
patient reported experience and outcome measures.

Discussions around the addition of neurological conditions, including epilepsy, on the
national dashboard as a way of monitoring services and identifying inequalities (such as
number of Epilepsy Specialist Nurses and caseloads) are also underway. The NCIG has

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:

Bae Caerdydd « Cardiff Bay 0300 0604400
Caerdydd « Cardiff Gohebiaeth.Eluned.Morgan@llyw.cymru
CF99 1SN Correspondence.Eluned.Morgan@gov.wales

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.

We welcome receiving correspondence in WelB.aQ'k cB@Q@dZ’l& received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.


mailto:Gohebiaeth.Eluned.Morgan@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Eluned.Morgan@gov.wales

secured clinical representation at the modernising outpatients dataset programme as part of
the planned care programme, which will help improve quality and availability of data.

Moving forward, the Neurological Conditions Implementation Plan will be replaced by the
Neurological Conditions Quality Statement. This has been developed by the NCIG and will
be published later this year. Quality Statements are a key feature introduced by the National
Clinical Framework (published in March 2021) which describes how the strategic
development of healthcare services can make the NHS in Wales fit for the 21st century.
‘Quality Statements’ set out what good looks like for high quality, patient focused services.

We expect health boards, trusts and Special Health Authorities to respond to Quality
Statements through their planning processes, and the monitoring of all services, including
those for people with epilepsy, will be significantly improved as the work initiated by NCIG to
improve the availability, quality and timeliness of data continues to develop.

Yours sincerely,

Eluned Morgan AS/MS
Y Gweinidog lechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol
Minister for Health and Social Services

Pack Page 79



Q G IG Bwrdd lechyd Prifysgol
0~,O "'

Aneurin Bevan
b N HS University Health Board

Our Ref: GJ/rm Direct Line: - Date: 15% June 2022

Letter sent by email only: petitions@senedd.wales

Clerking Team
Welsh Parliament
Cardiff Bay
Cardiff

CF99 1SN

Dear Sir, Madam

Re: Petition P-06-1240 Improve health services for people with epilepsy
living in Wales

Reference Mr Jack Sargeant’s letter dated 7" June 2022.

Thank you for the opportunity to provide information on what services and
resources are in place within the Aneurin Bevan University Health Board to meet
the needs of people living with Epilepsy, and any gaps in the service.

Within the Health Board the service consists of 2 x Consultant Neurologists with a
Special Interest in Epilepsy (1 of which is part time, totalling 1.2 WTE), 1 x Band 7
full time Epilepsy Specialist Nurse, and 1 x Band 6 Epilepsy Nurse (0.5 WTE). The
service is also supported by a Health Care Support Worker who provides daily
telephone triage for our open access service.

The services provided are:

e Weekly consultant led clinics, including a suspected first seizure service

e Weekly MDT to discuss complex patients

e Specialist Nurse led clinics i.e. antenatal clinics and a vagal nerve stimulator
(VNS) clinics

¢ Learning disabilities clinic (joint with LD psychiatrists)

Cont/d
Bwrdd Iechyd Prifysgol Aneurin Bevan Aneurin Bevan University Health Board
Pencadlys, Headquarters
Ysbyty Sant Cadog St Cadoc’s Hospital
Ffordd Y Lodj Lodge Road
Caerllion Caerleon
Casnewydd Newport
De Cymru NP18 3XQ South Wales NP18 3XQ
Ffén: 01633 436700 Tel No: 01633 436700
E-bost: abhb.enquiries@wales.nhs.uk Email: abhb.enquiries@wales.nhs.uk
Q . NHS

O’
G IG
‘' Bwrdd lechyd Prifysgol Aneurin Bevan yw enw gweithredol Bwrdd Iechyd Lleol Prifysgol Aneurin Bevan
Aneurin Bevan University Health Board is the operational name of Aneurin Bevan University Local Health Board

Pack Page 80




e Adolescent transition clinics (joint with paediatricians)
e Open Access telephone line (for returned call within 5 days) - the majority of
our workload is through this route

With regards to current gaps in service, Epilepsy Action recommends that there is 1
x WTE Epilepsy Clinical Nurse Specialist to manage a cohort of 250 patients. The
current situation demonstrates that the Health Board’s staffing levels are below
these recommendations. The Health Board is therefore advertising for an additional
1 x WTE Epilepsy Clinical Nurse Specialist and 1 x WTE Consultant with a Specialist
Interest in Epilepsy.

We hope that the above information is helpful and would welcome any feedback.

Yours faithfully

Glyn Jones
Prif Weithredwr Dros Dro / Interim Chief Executive

Pack Page 81



Bwrdd lechyd Prifysgol Bloc 5, Llys Carlton, Parc Busnes Llanelwy,

IG LI Iwy, LL17 0JG
%70 IhilR Y | Betsi Cadwaladr aney
\b/ WaLps | University Health Board Block 5, Carlton Court, St Asaph Business
Park, St Asaph, LL17 0JG

Ein cyf / Our ref: JW/AM/DL/CE22-1039/31176

Chair R

Petitions Committee - I

Welsh Parliament Gofynnwch am / Ask for: |
Cardiff Bay E-bost / Email:
CF99 1SN Dyddiad / Date: 16" June 2022

Dear Jack

Re: Petition P-06-1240 Improve health services for people with epilepsy living in
Wales

Adult Epilepsy services

The adult Epilepsy service in North Wales is provided by the Walton Centre NHS
Foundation Trust. There are two Consultant Neurologists working in North Wales with a
specialist interest in Epilepsy. The Walton Centre also employs one highly experienced
Epilepsy Nurse Specialist to support our North Wales patient population who are under
the care of the Walton Centre Neurological service. The post holder covers the service
extremely well.

We have access to MRI and also to EEG investigations through our Neurophysiology
service within the Health Board, with more specialised investigations available through
the Walton Centre.

We work closely with the Walton Centre team regarding the best models of care for our
patients to deliver agreed pathways of care within the resources available to us, and
these discussions are ongoing. The average waiting time for first appointment with a
Consultant Neurologist is currently 26 weeks unless the patient is marked to be seen
sooner.

Epilepsy service provision for children and young people

With respect to services for children and young people with Epilepsy living in North
Wales, we have Consultant Paediatricians with an interest in childhood Epilepsy in each
of our 3 areas (Centre, East and West) and they provide Epilepsy clinics in each of the
areas. Each of the 3 areas has a specialist Children’s Epilepsy Nurse who works
seamlessly with our acute and community paediatricians with an interest in childhood
Epilepsy, supporting families and the delivery of best quality clinical care. We have
tertiary specialist children’s Consultant Neurologists who deliver outreach clinics in all
three of our hospitals in North Wales and these are joint clinics, held in partnership with
our local consultants with an interest in children’s Epilepsy, in a hub and spoke model,
which is well established.

Cyfeiriad Gohebiaeth ar gyfer y Cadeirydd a'r Prif Weithredwr / Correspondence address for Chairman and Chief Executive:
Swyddfa'r Gweithredwyr / Executives’ Office

Ysbyty Gwynedd, Penrhosgarnedd Pack Page 82

Bangor, Gwynedd LL57 2PW Gwefan: www.pbc.cymru.nhs.uk / Web: www.bcu.wales.nhs.uk



IG Bwrdd lechyd Prifysgol

MRU | Betsi Cadwaladr

/ H University Health Board
WALES

Children’s and young people’s Epilepsy services are part of the EPIC (Epilepsy in
Children) regional network, with Alder Hey Children’s Hospital being our Tertiary hub and
centre. In addition to the visiting children’s neurology clinics, we have access to specialist
services for children and young people with Epilepsy, including the NorCESS (The
Northern Children's Epilepsy Surgery) service and Ketogenic Diet Service. We have
access to MRIs and also to EEG investigations through our Neurophysiology services
within the Health Board, with more specialised investigations, for example high resolution
MRI (3T) and video-telemetry available through Alder Hey children’s hospital.

The next available appointment with a Consultant Paediatric Neurologist at Alder Hey is
7 weeks.

Transition services

Joint transition clinics are held between our local paediatric consultants with an interest
in Epilepsy and adult Neurologists in each area, however, over the last 2-3 years, due to
staff changes and retirements in adult neurology, these have been variable in 2 of our 3
areas. We are working with our local adult tertiary centre to address this and are making
progress towards these being re-established. In the meantime we continue to have good
communication and pathways with our adult Consultant Neurologists and adult Specialist
Epilepsy Nurse from the Walton Centre to ensure that young people entering adult
services receive appropriate support and follow up.

Partnership working with the Third Sector
We have extremely strong partnership arrangements with the Third Sector and work very
closely with both Epilepsy Wales and Epilepsy Action Cymru to meet the needs of people
with Epilepsy living in our Health Board area.

e Epilepsy Wales

We have an agreed contract with Epilepsy Wales to deliver services to our patients with
Epilepsy.

Epilepsy Wales help people with Epilepsy in North Wales to live as full, independent and
active lives as is possible in the community. Helping them gain a better understanding
and control of their condition limits the impact of the condition, with the aim of improving
job opportunities, improving health and wellbeing, supporting people to stay in their own
homes, maintaining independence and avoiding hospital admissions. Epilepsy Wales
provide 1:1 support to people with Epilepsy who have complex needs supporting their
families and carers. They also provide support to children with Epilepsy and their carers.

- Support for Epilepsy Clinics
Epilepsy Wales provide support and take referrals from Consultant led, GP and
Specialist Nurse clinics in North Wales. Clinics are held at Ysbyty Gwynedd Bangor,
Ysbyty Glan Clwyd, Colwyn Bay Community Hospital and Wrexham, and where
necessary Epilepsy Wales visit people in their own home. They also attend
Multidisciplinary meetings when required to support people with Epilepsy and liaise

Pack Page 83



IG Bwrdd lechyd Prifysgol

MRU | Betsi Cadwaladr

/ H University Health Board
WALES

with various agencies to address needs identified within the clinic- this includes first
aid advice and training for families, safety issues, benefits advice, emotional support
and advocacy. They undertake home visits, visit schools and care homes visits, and
maintain contact both online and over the phone. They offer training for families and
carers with Midazolam care plans, and work alongside practitioners to deliver a person
centred service, either in an individuals home or within Epilepsy Wales’ own training
facility for those unable to access online training.

- Stakeholder Involvement
Epilepsy Wales hold family events for our individual patients with Epilepsy and for the
children and parents of children with Epilepsy. In addition, they hold regular “walk and
talk” meetings in local parks and support group meetings in Wrexham, Conwy and
Bangor, including evening events.

They also offer an online support service via a closed Facebook page. During
lockdown they arranged both educational and social opportunities at a local level
online. They shared activities that promoted wellbeing, capturing people’s lockdown
experiences, volunteering activities, crafting, garden and environmental projects. They
produced a permanent record book, “Lockdown Creations,” which highlights the
achievements, volunteering endeavours and promotion of the mental and physical
health and wellbeing of the support group members.

- Education and Training

BCU work in close partnership with Epilepsy Wales on education and training, and as
an organisation Epilepsy Wales support education initiatives across BCUHB.
Epilepsy Wales also support us to raise awareness of Epilepsy, its causes, treatment
and ways to control the condition to the public and to Health and Social Care
Organisations and Care Agencies, providing training and promoting cooperation and
contact with, and between, Statutory agencies (Health and Social Care), voluntary and
private sector groups. They offer free online training to adults supporting them with
their well-being, and they also have a course that parents who have children with
epilepsy can access too, which is free. They offer a free service called ‘Epilepsy
Space’ which is aimed at young people aged 16-24. This was created by young people
themselves to help manage their epilepsy.

- Befriending service
Epilepsy Wales have also started the process of setting up a befriending service for
our patients.

Pack Page 84



Bwrdd lechyd Prifysgol
Betsi Cadwaladr

/ University Health Board
WALES

e Epilepsy Action Cymru

Epilepsy Action Cymru also support our patients with Epilepsy in North Wales:

A new course has been established which is aimed at parents called “Your Child
and Epilepsy’ which is free to access.

A new tool kit for employers has been produced which includes specified
information that employers need when they recruit or anyone who has a newly
diagnosis of Epilepsy.

They also offer ‘Epilepsy Space’ to our young people aged 16-24

Local and general support groups are running virtually

New Parents and Carers support groups are running weekly. These enable
parents to share their experiences worries and concerns in a safe environment.
A new bespoke Epilepsy awareness training for Schools and employers is being
delivered virtually.

Counselling service for people with Epilepsy - Epilepsy Action Cymru are
looking to create a counselling service for anyone over 18. This could be adults
caring for someone with Epilepsy, or a parent of someone affected by Epilepsy.
This will provide emotional support for our patients at various stages of their
condition. This could be at point of diagnosis, a change in condition, or coping
with living with a long-term condition.

Yours sincerely

h Wl ¢ \/(

J

Jo Whitehead, PSM
Prif Weithredwr/Chief Executive

Pack Page 85



Q G IG Bwrdd Iechyd Prifysgol Executive Headquarters / Pencadlys Gweithredol

dl% Caerdydd a’r Fro Woodland House Ty Coedtir
N' N H S Cardiff and Vale Maes-y-Coed Road Ffordd Maes-y-Coed

. : Cardiff Caerdydd

University Health Board 14 4pH CF14 4HH

Eich cyf/Your ref:

Ein cyf/Our ref: SR-jb-0622-9618

Welsh Health Telephone Network:

Direct Line/Llinell uniongychol: 029 2183 6010 .
Suzanne Rankin

Chief Executive
23 June 2022

Jack Sargeant MS
Chair

Petitions Committee
Welsh Parliament
Cardiff Bay

Cardiff

CF99 1SN

Dear Mr Sargeant

Petition P-06-1240 Improve Health Services for People with Epilepsy Living in
Wales

Thank you for seeking our views on Petition P-06-1240 on the Improvement of
Health Services for People with Epilepsy living in Wales.

You will recall that you posed the question "what services and resources are in place
to meet the needs of people with epilepsy living in your Health Board area, and if
there are any gaps in services and resources at present."

Following discussion with colleagues from our Specialist Services Clinical Board |
provide the following response to your question — for convenience broken down into
the sub-components of the overall question.

Services and resources in place to meet the needs of people living with
epilepsy in Cardiff and the Vale

The Welsh Epilepsy Centre is based within Cardiff and Vale University Health Board
(‘the UHB’). It was established in the mid-1990s at University Hospital of Wales, and
at that time provided services across South Wales. However, under current
commissioning arrangements the UHB provides secondary care epilepsy for patients
in our own and Cwm Taf Morgannwg UHB areas; this catchment population covers a
population of approximately 700,000. Furthermore, current commissioning also
requires the UHB to provide tertiary services (through a WHSSC funded
programme), mainly for epilepsy surgery to a South Wales catchment population of
2.4M.

D62 disability
, . ) B confident
Bwrdd Iechyd Prifysgol Caerdydd a’r Fro yw enw gweithredol Bwyrdd Iechyd Lleol Prifysgol Caerdydd a'r Fro EMPLOYER

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board is the operational name of Cardiff and Vale University Local Health Board

Croesawir y Bwrdd ohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. Sicrhawn byddwn yn cyfathrebu & chi yn eich dewis iaith. Ni fydd gohebu yn Gymraeg yn creu unrhyw oedi

The Board welcomes correspondence in Welsh or English. We will snsurspaatkorpag leon8i69n language. Correspondence in Welsh will not lead to a delay



Outpatient activity in the epilepsy centre consists of on average 1300 new referrals
each year, over 1400 under long term follow up review, along with an open access
system to all patients reviewed previously. This allows patients to contact the
department directly if they have concerns about their epilepsy without at times the
need for outpatient appointment. Access through the telephone and email advice
lines averages 5000 patient encounters per year, with most receiving instant access
to care and changes in treatment where required. The suspected first seizures is an
area of clinical priority for the department; NICE recommend that this patient type be
reviewed within 14 days, and the current wait within the UHB is on average 22 days.

The centre delivers a multidisciplinary approach to epilepsy care and offers
comprehensive services, across many platforms to include face to face and virtual.
Current staffing of the centre is two Consultant Neurologists, and 4 WTE Adult
Epilepsy Clinical Nurse Specialists. The Clinical Nurse Specialists are supported by
the Consultant Neurologists and lead on follow-up outpatients, 1St seizure clinic,
ante-natal clinics, outreach clinics at Cardiff prison, vagal nerve stimulator clinic and
specialist prescribing for new treatments such as Epidiolex (cannabis oil) and
Stiropento. The centre also has a unique Wales only service offering specialist
assessment in the emergency unit by the epilepsy specialist nursing team, Monday
to Friday, 08.30-1630 hours. The epilepsy surgery programme, pre-surgical
evaluation to surgery and follow up is based in Cardiff alongside the Neurosurgery
Department.

Patients with epilepsy are also seen and managed by local neurologists and learning
disability specialists and teams.

The centre’s close links with other departments within the UHB (paediatric
neurology, psychiatry, learning disabilities, antenatal, clinical pharmacology,
ophthalmology, clinical psychology, neuroradiology, neurophysiology and
neurosurgery) enables patients to receive treatments most appropriate to their
circumstances. It is also research active, undertaking and recruiting to various local,
national and international trials to ensure patients have access to cutting edge care.

The Epilepsy teams across three health boards (Cardiff and Vale, Swansea Bay and
Aneurin Bevan) continue to work through a clinical network with quarterly meetings.
This collective approach has resulted in publication of a First Seizure Pathway
(2021). The group continue to work on refinement of an epilepsy data dashboard
which will be critical to informing future understanding of epilepsy epidemiology and
need.

Current Gaps in Services and Resources

Whilst the service is comprehensive and safe there are nonetheless gaps in
provision.

At the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic the dedicated epilepsy outpatient facilities
was stepped down, and relocated to meet national social distancing guidelines.

D2 disability
, . , B confident
Bwrdd Iechyd Prifysgol Caerdydd a’r Fro yw enw gweithredol Bwyrdd Iechyd Lleol Prifysgol Caerdydd a'r Fro EMPLOYER

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board is the operational name of Cardiff and Vale University Local Health Board

Croesawir y Bwrdd ohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. Sicrhawn byddwn yn cyfathrebu & chi yn eich dewis iaith. Ni fydd gohebu yn Gymraeg yn creu unrhyw oedi

The Board welcomes correspondence in Welsh or English. We will ensure that we will comrtaec kur pag7e?98?793pondence in Welsh will not lead to a delay



Presently the epilepsy centre has limited footfall available at the University Hospital
of Wales, with the all outpatient activity taking place at another site (Rookwood
Hospital). The essential inpatient telemetry service was suspended during the
pandemic, it has now reopened but is not yet operating at pre-COVID levels. This is
due to the telemetry service currently utilising a footprint within a non-neurology
inpatient area. This has impacted on the epilepsy surgery programme which remains
fragile. We have insufficient outpatient capacity to ensure timely new and follow up
appointments.

It is notable that there is an increasing patient demand within these new and follow
up appointments. This increase occurs because of an increase in the provision of
medicines requiring specialist prescription or monitoring, and a change in practice to
repatriate to the epilepsy centre prescriptions in all women of child bearing age
taking sodium valproate.

Patients within the Cwm Taf Morgannwg UHB population access clinical nurse
specialist support from the service within Cardiff. Whilst this service is
comprehensive and safe there would be some merit in Cwm Taf Morgannwg UHB
commissioning the service locally to enable patient access in their own locality.
Cardiff and Vale UHB have recommended this option to Cwm Taf Morgannwg, and if
requested we are able to provide the commissioning process with supporting data
and evidence.

There is currently no psychology provision for patients within Cardiff and Vale and
Cwm Taf Morgannwg Health Boards, despite there being a recommendation in NICE
guidelines for the management of epilepsy in children, young people and adults.
Access to psychology services would be of real benefit to the epilepsy population,
particularly at the point of diagnosis. The service does mitigate the risk via regular
clinical review and access to the CNS team. However, additional investment would
be required to establish a service that provides comprehensive health psychology
support to this patient group and work has commenced on the development of a
business case for psychology support.

The service is currently experiencing increased patient demand to see a consultant
neurologist which has increased the overall weeks wait for patients to be seen in a
clinic setting. There are plans in place to resolve some of these issues. The clinical
team have put in place several systems to address this such as:

e Open Access: Where patients with urgent clinical questions / needs can
contact the clinical team and receive clinical input within 24hrs.

o Epilepsy Telephone Helpline: This service allows allow to the CNS and
Medical Team to provide clinical information to other healthcare professional
and patient (Monday-Friday 9am-5pm).

e Weekly Multi-Disciplinary Team Meetings at which all referrals into the
department are reviewed and appointed on clinical need.

EDEA disability
, . , B3 confident
Bwrdd Iechyd Prifysgol Caerdydd a’r Fro yw enw gweithredol Bwyrdd Iechyd Lleol Prifysgol Caerdydd a'r Fro EMPLOYER

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board is the operational name of Cardiff and Vale University Local Health Board

Croesawir y Bwrdd ohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. Sicrhawn byddwn yn cyfathrebu & chi yn eich dewis iaith. Ni fydd gohebu yn Gymraeg yn creu unrhyw oedi

The Board welcomes correspondence in Welsh or English. We will ensureF)iatkorp/ag got8/8en language. Correspondence in Welsh will not lead to a delay



With the increase demands on the service the waiting time for patients triaged as
‘routine’ have increased, although for those triaged as urgent the waiting times are
similar compared to periods before the pandemic and before the altered clinical
pathway requiring specialist prescribing or pharmaceutical monitoring. The
consultant neurologist clinical team are reassured that all patients have access to
expert clinical advice via the nursing and medical teams when needed via the
services listed above.

Discussions regarding the epilepsy centre footprint and outpatient recovery plans are
ongoing as the UHB restore services following the pandemic response. Outpatient
services will continue to be delivered from Rookwood Hospital until outpatient
facilities are provided on the University Hospital Wales site. We recognise that even
when the epilepsy outpatient services return to their original footprint on this site
there will still be a requirement for an optimised location to encompass the whole of
the epilepsy service and gain maximal benefit from the telemetry capability. The
UHB are in the initial stages of developing a case for capital funding to establish a
future outpatient and day case facility at University Hospital Wales.

Clear challenges have arisen from the pandemic and the essential improvements in
the epilepsy care pathway necessitating increased specialist activity. Nonetheless,
the Welsh Epilepsy Centre, in partnership with other Health Boards, has adapted to
fit the needs of the ever changing post pandemic health service and it continues to
provide the best care that it can to patients with epilepsy, their families and carers.
Furthermore, the Welsh Epilepsy Centre recognises its future development needs
and can, subject to capital investment, design an optimised and future proofed
service.

Yours sincerely

Suzanne Rankin
Chief Executive

D disability
, . , BIES confident
Bwrdd Iechyd Prifysgol Caerdydd a’r Fro yw enw gweithredol Bwyrdd Iechyd Lleol Prifysgol Caerdydd a'r Fro EMPLOYER

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board is the operational name of Cardiff and Vale University Local Health Board

Croesawir y Bwrdd ohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. Sicrhawn byddwn yn cyfathrebu & chi yn eich dewis iaith. Ni fydd gohebu yn Gymraeg yn creu unrhyw oedi

The Board welcomes correspondence in Welsh or English. We will ensure that we will comrtaec kur pag7e?gggespondence in Welsh will not lead to a delay



Q GIG | gwrad lechyd Prifysgol Your ref/eich cyf:

d~ > Cwm Taf Morgannwg Our ref/ein cyf: PM/TLT
b' INHIS | university Health Board Date/Dyddiad: 24 June 2022
Tel/ffon: I
Email/ebost: 1
Dept/adran: Chair and Chief Executive

Mr Jack Sargeant MS
Chair

Petitions Committee
Senedd Cymru
Cardiff Bay

Cardiff

CF99 1SN

Dear Mr Sargeant

Petition P-06-1240 Improve health services for people with epilepsy
living in Wales

Thank you for your letter of the 7 June 2022.

Epilepsy Services for CTM UHB are provided via the Neurology team. However,
Neurology services are not provided directly by CTM UHB, but via a Service
Level Agreement (SLA) from Cardiff and Vale UHB to patients in the Rhondda
Taf Ely and Merthyr Cynon areas. The Bridgend and Maesteg areas receive their
Neurology services via an SLA with Swansea Bay UHB.

The visiting Consultants provide a range of services including outpatient clinics,
review of ward referrals, prioritising new referrals into the service and reviewing
results of existing patients under the care of the service, many of whom have

life-long neurological conditions and answering queries from other medical staff.

A Neurology Services review was undertaken by the Health Board’s
Commissioning team in March 2018 which showed significant shortfalls across
the range of Neurological services. The Association of British Neurologists
(ABN) suggests that there is 1 whole time equivalent (wte) Consultant
Neurologist per 100,000 population. There is great disparity amongst Health

Croeso i chi gyfathrebu &'r bwrdd iechyd yn y Gymraeg neu'r Saesneg. Byddwn yn ymateb yn yr un iaith a ni fydd
hyn yn arwain at oedi.

You are welcome to correspond with the health board in Welsh or English. We will respond accordingly and this
will not delay the response.

Cyfeiriad Dychwelyd/Return Address:
Bwrdd Iechyd Prifysgol Cwm Taf Morgannwg, Pencadlys, Parc Navigation, Abercynon, CF45 4SN
Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board, Headquarters, Navigation Park, Abercynon, CF45 4SN

Cadeirydd/Chair: Emrys Elias Prif Weithredwr/Chief Executive: Paul Mears

Bwrdd lechyd Prifysgol Cwm Taf Morgpaggw gg 9 oI Bwrdd lechyd Lleol Prifysgol Cwm Taf Morgannwg
ICwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board i er e of the Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Local Health Board




against the ABN standard for the number of Consultant Neurologists, outlined
below:

e Aneurin Bevan has a population of 594,164 with 8 working time
equivalent (wte), equating to 1 per 74,000.

e Cardiff and Vale has a population of 500,490 with 7.5wte, equating to 1
per 66,000.

e Swansea has a population of 390,308 with 11wte, equating to 1 per
35,000.

e Cwm Taf Morgannwg has a population of 448,639 with 2wte, equating to
1 per 224,000.

Regarding Epilepsy services, it is good practice to have Epilepsy Clinical Nurse
Specialists providing clinical input and care to people living with epilepsy. The
are currently no Epilepsy CNS dedicated to the CTMUHB population and this
service is provided by Cardiff and Vale CNS’s on a goodwill basis which is
unsustainable and serviced by clinics in Cardiff. This results in a high DNA rate
within the clinics as they are not close to the population they serve.

Shortfalls in Neurological provision have been highlighted in the Health Board’s
Integrated Medium Term Plan over the last few years but due to competing
priorities have not received additional funding.

Yours sincerely

S
Py

A
/

Paul Mears
Prif Weithredwr/Chief Executive

Pack Page 91



1

. Cadeirydd/Chair: Emma Woollett
Q G IG Bwrdd IeChyd Pr'fySgOI Prif Weithredwr/Chief Executive: Mark Hackett
0'70 Bae Abertawe
@ " .
N H S Swansea Bay University gofalu am ein gilydd, cydweithio, gwella bob amser
Health Board caring for each other, working together, always improving

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg ac yn y Saesneg
We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English.

Date: 24" June, 2022 Swansea Bay University Health Board
Headquarters

One Talbot Gateway

Seaway Parade

Port Talbot SA12 7BR

01639 683302
WHTN: 1787 3302

Jack Sargeant MS

Chair

Petitions Committee

Welsh Parliament

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff CF99 1SN
Petitions@senedd.wales

Dear Jack,
Re: Petition P-06-1240 Improve health services for people with epilepsy living in Wales

Thank you for your letter of 7" June 2022 requesting information about the services and
resources that are in place to meet the needs of people with epilepsy living in our Health Board
area, and asking if there are any gaps in services and resources at present. I'm happy to
respond as follows:

In Swansea Bay in 2019, we faced a serious challenge to provide an epilepsy service (for
patients with a common, long-term condition characterised by sudden and unpredictable
fluctuations in seizure control), with limited resources. Issues included:

¢ long waiting times for first appointments;

e large numbers of patients on ‘follow up not booked’ (FUNB) waiting lists, and

e alack of flexibility and responsiveness in the epilepsy service.

Prior to our service changes, waiting times to be seen in epilepsy clinics were 18 weeks for
urgent cases and 23 weeks for routine cases. Waiting times to see the epilepsy specialist
nurses (ESN) were 20 weeks. Moreover, there was a lack of flexibility to see patients, or to
offer advice, at short notice, resulting in patients presenting to A&E and unnecessary hospital
admissions. A ‘first seizure’ clinic was established in Swansea but waiting times for this could
be as long as 16 weeks. A total of 1,394 patients were on epilepsy FUNB lists.

— ——

Pencadlys BIP Bae Abertawe, Un Porthfa Talbot, Port Talbot, SA12 7BR
Swansea Bay UHB Headquarters, One Talbot Gateway, Port Talbot, SA12 7BR
Bwrdd lechyd Prifysgol Bae Abertawe yw enw gweithredu Bwrdd lechyd Lleol Prifysgol Bae Abertawe
Swansea Bay University Health Board is the operational name of Swansea Bay University Local Health Board

Pack Page 92


mailto:Petitions@senedd.wales

We redesigned the SBUHB epilepsy service to try and overcome this challenge. In 2020, we
introduced an ‘Open Access’ service model. This encourages patients to take ownership of
their epilepsy care and reduces the number of appointments that they have to attend. Open
access epilepsy clinics are designed for patients to be seen in a flexible and timely manner
when their need is greatest. Instead of routine booked follow up appointments, patients are
advised and encouraged to contact us via a telephone or email helpline with any issues. This
helps prevent unnecessary hospital admissions and outpatient burden, and increases capacity
for telephone advice and necessary follow up appointments, ensuring outpatient waiting times
remain low.

Other service developments introduced during 2019-2020 included:

e providing rapid access to the first seizure clinic, for the prompt assessment and
investigation of patients who have suffered a first epileptic seizure, which enabled
patients to be discharged quickly from the emergency department;

e an email advice service to GPs, providing specialist epilepsy advice regarding their
patient’s epilepsy management (surveys have demonstrated a satisfaction rate of 98%
amongst users);

e a weekly epilepsy multi-disciplinary team meeting to grade all epilepsy referrals,
identifying those suitable for telephone or email advice;

e atriaging system run by an epilepsy co-ordinator who collects and screens all epilepsy
referrals, monitors waiting times for appointments and maps capacity to demand, and

o development of a dissociative seizures service run jointly by a neuropsychologist and
ESN.

Waiting times significantly improved:

Impact of Open Access Model
Measure Before | After
Total number of patients on FUNB lists 1,394 | 410
Total number breaching targets 784 116
Average waiting times for consultant epilepsy clinic (weeks) 21 3

Patients can now contact us immediately (via email or phone) to inform of us of changes in
epilepsy control and will receive a response within 48 hours with clinical advice, including
medication changes. From a patient perspective, the improvements mean:

e more virtual/telephone clinics;

e patients don’t need to travel to clinic, particularly important as most are unable to drive;

e patients seen at times of need so more efficient consultations, and

o fewer non-attendances at appointments.

Regarding gaps in services and resources, the significant improvements described above
have been made possible only by the appointment of a 2" ESN and an epilepsy service
coordinator. While service development is ongoing, waiting times and numbers are falling
much more slowly as nurse caseload capacity has reached its limit. Even with the changes
we have made, we are just about meeting demand for the most sick patients. We are failing

Pencadlys BIP Bae Abertawe, Un Porthfa Talbot, Port Talbot, SA12 7BR
Swansea Bay UHB Headquarters, One Talbot Gateway, Port Talbot, SA12 7BR
Bwrdd lechyd Prifysgol Bae Abertawe yw enw gweithredu Bwrdd lechyd Lleol Prifysgol Bae Abertawe
Swansea Bay University Health Board is the operational name of Swansea Bay University Local Health Board

Pack Page 93



to offer specialist services such as antenatal and transition epilepsy clinics across the West
Wales region.

The low numbers of ESNs in Wales (1 nurse per 2,195 patients) and in our region compare
poorly to the Epilepsy Action recommendation (1:250), the Steers Report recommendation
(1:300) and even the RCP recommendation (1:500). This is important because, having
demonstrated in Swansea Bay how a small team can adapt to meet the challenge of providing
a high quality and safe service for a common, long term condition, there is an opportunity to
extend the open access model with Hywel Dda UHB (HDUHB).

We would offer one service to patients with epilepsy across the West Wales region, in keeping
with the principles of our unigue collaboration between Swansea Bay University Health Board,
HDUHB and Swansea University, A Regional Collaboration for Health. We will look at the
totality of demand and capacity in the region and work with HDUHB through our partnership
arrangements in developing our future service plan.

Yours sincerely,

Mt Tlrsst
/

Mark Hackett
CEO

Pencadlys BIP Bae Abertawe, Un Porthfa Talbot, Port Talbot, SA12 7BR
Swansea Bay UHB Headquarters, One Talbot Gateway, Port Talbot, SA12 7BR
Bwrdd lechyd Prifysgol Bae Abertawe yw enw gweithredu Bwrdd lechyd Lleol Prifysgol Bae Abertawe
Swansea Bay University Health Board is the operational name of Swansea Bay University Local Health Board

Pack Page 94



Bwrdd lechyd
Vivienne Harpwood, Cadeirydd / Chair Q G IG Addysgu Pc?lwys

Ffon / Phone: | a o

E-bost / Email: ﬁ' N H S P :
owys Teaching

Carol Shillabeer, Y Prif Weithredwr / b Health Board

Chief Executive
Ffon / Phone:

E-bost / Email: S
CS/PW 4 July 2022

Jack Sargent MS

Chair of the Senedd Petitions Committee
Welsh Parliament

Cardiff Bay

Cardiff

CF99 1SN

Dear Mr Sargent

Petition P-06-1240 Improve health services for people with
epilepsy living in Wales

Thank you for your letter dated 7t June 2022 enquiring about the services
and resources that are in place to meet the needs of people with epilepsy
living in Powys, and if there are any gaps in services and resources at
present.

Within Powys, our primary care services for example, general practice, are
well placed to undertake routine monitoring of patients with epilepsy. For
patients whose condition deteriorates to such an extent that emergency
treatment is necessary, patients can access emergency care services via
their local District General Hospital (DGH) in either Wales or England,
depending on where they live. In terms of speciality secondary care
services, including diagnostics and neurological services, if patients require
specialist intervention, again these are typically provided at a local DGH.
However, these services maybe further afield if services have been
centralised as part of a recognised clinical network of specialist centre.

With regards to Children and Young people, the health board does not
directly deliver specialist epilepsy services. Children and Young people are
referred to a DGH for commissioned specialist services as required. Our
health and care strategy ‘A Healthy, Caring Powys’ sets out our ambition to
provide care closer to home, and where this is not possible due to the
pathway of care, we do our upmost to support this principle in partnership

Pencadlys Headquarters
Ty Glasbury, Ysbyty Bronllys, / CYFLOGWR YSTYRIOL Glasbury House, Bronllys Hospital
Aberhonddu, Powys LD3 OLU MINDFUL EMPLOYER Brecon, Powys LD3 OLU
Ffon: 01874 711661 Tel: 01874 711661
Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth Gymraeg -‘3\: “.% o> s‘\‘.“:é, & We welcome correspondence in Welsh
Bwrdd lechyd Addysgu Powys yw enw gweithredd Bwrdd lechyd Lleol S M §J i*é Powys Teaching Health Board is the operational name of
Addysgu Powys o s Powys Teaching Local Health Board

"Pack Page 95



with other health boards and Trusts. Our community paediatricians within
the health board will liaise with their secondary care colleagues to support
care for those children and young people who are known to the community
paediatric service. Initial investigation and commencement of treatment
will be wundertaken by general paediatric, or neurology services
commissioned from the DGHs bordering Powys.

In terms of nursing provision, the Epilepsy specialist nurse service is
commissioned from the DGHs and as a health board, we identified that a
link nurse would improve service provision for Children and Young People
in Powys. There is currently a review to scope the requirement for
establishing a role. The link nurse role enhances the current epilepsy
service provided by the district general hospitals but does not replace the
skill and expertise of the epilepsy clinical nurse specialist who remains
responsible for prescribing care and supporting training.

I hope this information is helpful to the Committee.

Yours sincerely
(b 9%/5/[ Ll Bl s

Carol Shillabeer
Chief Executive

Pack Page 96



P-06-1240 Improve health services for people with epilepsy living in Wales,
Correspondence - Petitioner to Committee, 07.10.22

epilepsy action

Dear Jack

Thank you for your email on behalf of the Petitions Committee. Please accept our apologies for the
delay in responding to you.

We have reviewed the letters received from the Health Boards and the Minister for Health and
Social Services, though we note that no response has been received from the Hywel Dda University
Health Board. As this is an area for which we have significant concerns about the provision of
epilepsy services it is especially disappointing that they have not provided a response.

We have used these responses, as well as information gleaned from other sources, to produce the
attached report on the state of Epilepsy Services in Wales, which we will be presenting to officials in
the Department for Health and Social Services. This report breaks down the epilepsy services and
workforce in each health board area, as well as identifying the risks to epilepsy services in each area.
We have also sought to identify instances of best practice in epilepsy services.

| appreciate that this document is too long to be fully considered by the committee members, so |
have summarised the key findings in the second attached document.

In short, while we welcome the information provided by the health boards, we still have concerns
about the regional discrepancies in epilepsy services, as well as the existing workforce issues. We do
not believe that these will be resolved by the Neurological Conditions Quality Statement as outlined
by the Minister.

It is clear that both the Department of Health and Social Services and the individual Health Boards
need to do more to ensure that people with epilepsy in Wales are able to access appropriate
services in a timely fashion, regardless of where they live.

The attached summary of the report includes our recommendations for how these issues can be
addressed, and we would be grateful if the Committee could support us in raising these with the
Health Minister and Health Boards.

We would welcome any further support the Committee can offer in addressing the issues raised
with epilepsy services in Wales. We would also be more than happy to discuss these issues directly
with the Committee.

Kind regards

Jan Paterson

Pack Page 97



Wales Manager Epilepsy Action Cymru

Pack Page 98



Epilepsy Service Provision Wales — Summary

What Does a Good Model Look Like?
From the findings and assessment of the differing health boards, it has become clear that

recruitment to ESN posts and the availability of neurologists with specialist competency in epilepsy is
not widespread or invested in.

What has also become apparent from our review is that a service model that is supportive of the

patient requires:

e Implementing an ‘open access’ model with central administration. This approach supports
the clinical staff by protecting clinical time. Implementing this has proven to reduces the
burden on the appointment system, emergency admissions and A&E attendance and
enhances patient experience, mental health and is supportive of other key stakeholders e.g.,
primary care. Patients and service users have a direct link into secondary and primary care
services through a co-ordinated triage system.

This model is well established within two of the five health boards which is discussed in
detail in 3.0. Whilst the service runs, this is predominantly based on the goodwill, tenacity
and enthusiasm of the existing workforce. Additional ESN resource would enhance
sustainable quality improvement and patient outcomes.

e Integrated services for the transition of young people into an adult service. The main focus
being to ensure that service is available to support and monitor ongoing care and treatment

to old age.

The epilepsy teams across three health boards (Cardiff and Vale, Swansea Bay and Aneurin Bevan)
continue to work through a clinical network with quarterly meetings. This collective approach has
resulted in publication of a First Seizure Pathway (2021). The group also continue to work on
refinement of an epilepsy data dashboard which will be critical to informing future understanding of
epilepsy epidemiology and need.

Epilepsy services and workforce by Health Board

Health Board

Current Workforce

Good practice

Risks

Aneurin Bevan Health
Board

1 Full time adult ESN

2 Part time adult ESNs

4 Part time paediatric
ESNs

1 Full Time Co-ordinator
1 Neurologist (1
day/week)

1 Epileptologist

An ‘open access’
epilepsy service is in
place. The co-ordinator
role is a (fix term) full
time health care support
worker acting as an
epilepsy coordinator.

Inadequate workforce to
run the service,
particularly insufficient
ESN resources to cover
for leave, run additional
specialist services e.g.,
transition, community
services.

The co-ordinator is not a
substantive role.

Swansea Bay University
Health Board

2 Full time adult ESNs

2 Full time paediatric
ESNs

1 Co-ordinator (80% FTE
for epilepsy)

3 Neurologists

Patients call or email the
open access (OA) service
at any time. Clinical
responses to raised
concerns or change in
condition are made
within 48 hours.

Inadequate workforce to
perform a full regional
service for Swansea and
Hywel Dda

Insufficient ESN
resources to cover for
leave, run additional
specialist services e.g.,

Pack Page 99



The epilepsy coordinator
runs a triaging system,
collecting and screening
all epilepsy referrals,
identifying patients
known to the service
and those who may be
suitable for phone or e-
mail advice. The
coordinator actively
monitors waiting times
for appointments,
mapping capacity to
demand.

transition, community
services

Heavy load of ESN doing
open access work — risks
of burnout

One consultant
approaching retirement
Inequity across the
region, limited access for
patients from Hywel Dda
Delays for epilepsy
surgery and VNS
treatment.

Hywel Dda Health Board

1 Full time Adult ESN
2 Part time Adult ESNs
1 Paediatric ESN
(Covering 8 hospitals)
2 Neurologists — No
epilepsy specialist —
general neurology

It has the highest budget
overspend of all the
Wales health boards
Only one nurse allocated
to deliver the adult
epilepsy service

Open clinic with only
one nurse and no co-
ordinator

Cardiff & Vale
University Health Board

3 WTE Adult ESNs

1 WTE Paediatric ESN
(covers all 5 hospitals)
2 Neurologists (Adult)

1 Neurologist
(paediatric)

4 Neurosurgeons —
based at Cardiff & Vales

The ‘Open Access’
system allows patients
to contact the
department directly if
they have concerns
about their epilepsy,
without the need for
outpatient
appointments. Access
through this system
averages 5000 patient
encounters per year,
with most receiving
instant access to care,
clinical input within 24
hours.

There is currently no
psychology provision for
patients within Cardiff
and Vale in line with
current NICE guidance
which recommends
access to this service.
Cardiff and Vale does
not have any other
epilepsy hub provision
except outpatient
treatment and review
within Rookwood
hospital.

Cwm Taf Morgannwg
Health Board

No ESNs — integrated
service with Cardiff

2 WTE Paediatric
coordinators - Base Cwm
Taf

2 Neurologists (general)

There are currently no
ESNs dedicated to the
CTMUHB population,
this service is provided
by Cardiff and Vale ESNs
on a goodwill basis
which is unsustainable
and serviced by clinics in
Cardiff. This results in a
high DNA rate within the
clinics as they are not
close to the population
they serve.

For the past two years,
shortfalls in neurological
provision have been
highlighted as a risk

Pack Page 100




within the Health
Board'’s Integrated
Medium-Term Plan, but
due to competing
priorities has not
received additional
funding.

Betsi Cadwaladr
University Health Board

1 WTE Adult ESN

3 Paediatric ESNs

4 Neurologist (x1 Walton
Centre / North Wales)

2 Consultant
Neurologists (Alder Hey)

As the largest health
board in Wales, and one
covering a rural area, it
is of very real concern
that there is currently
only one adult ESN. This
puts an incredible
amount of pressure of
this individual.

Patients in this area are
facing incredibly long
waiting times for
Consultant Neurologists.
Betsi Cadwaladr also
relies on the Walton
Centre and Alder Hey for
a number of services.

Powys Teaching Health
Board

With no neurology
services people with
epilepsy in Powys are
reliant on services in
neighbouring health
boards, including
services in England.

As a rural area, this puts
increased pressure on
people with epilepsy
living within Powys
travelling out of the area
to access services.

Conclusion and Recommendations
In response to the available information, it is clear that there is inequity in service provision across
Wales. It is acknowledged that one model does not always fit all demographics, inequalities, or
available resource. However, what the collective intelligence tells us is that action at pace is required
to improve the care for people with epilepsy and reduce pressures on both the specialist epilepsy
workforce and neurology waiting lists.

Access to treatments, services and support helps people living with neurological conditions manage
their condition; to identify early signs of complications; and put in place prevention and treatment
strategies to avoid unscheduled hospital admissions. However, neurology has historically been an
underfunded, low priority service in Wales and all too often, our community has reported
substantial barriers to accessing the treatment, services and support that this group of patients need
from health and care services.

Pack Page 101




Epilepsy Action is calling on the Welsh Department of Health to support and influence those Health
Boards where there are inequalities in service provision for people with epilepsy, and to learn from
existing good practice and to fully implement national guidance (NICE CG 217 (2022) by:

Supporting measures to reduce current waiting times for epilepsy services and health
professionals in Wales. This can be achieved by ensuring the levels of staffing across the
Health Boards of Wales are appropriately resourced to achieve and maintain sustainability,
patient safety and quality of service. Based on the recommendations from the Royal College
of Physicians and the Association of British Neurologists, which suggested a minimum of 9
ENS per 500,000 population - equivalent to an ENS caseload of approximately 550 patients,
this table presents the number of ESNs each health board should have in place.

Health Board Population with Total number required Total number of current
epilepsy ESNs ESNs
Aneurin Bevan 6000 adults with 11 7
epilepsy
Swansea Bay 6000 adults with 11 4
epilepsy
Hywel Dda 4500 adults with 8 2
epilepsy
Cardiff 5000 active patients 9 4
requiring on going
management
Cwm Taf provides services to 5 0 integrated service
300,000 with Cardiff
Betsi Cadwaladr approximately 5,020 9 4

Powys

adults with epilepsy

provides services to 2 No dedicated neurology
133,000 service

Implementing the widespread adoption of ‘epilepsy service coordinators’ and the positive
impact this role has on epilepsy services. Adoption of a best practice model, such as ‘Open
Access’ has shown demonstrable improvements in clinical outcomes (reduced emergency
admissions), reduction in outpatient attendances and improved patient experience. This
approach preserves clinical resources by implementing a co-ordinator role and expediting
timely access to services.

Reviewing the provision of transition services to ensure these are available across all Health
Boards and that there are no inequalities in the transition of children and young people into
adult services. This reduces patient safety issues and improves clinical outcomes as a long-
term condition.

Pack Page 102



EPILEPSY
SERVICE
PROVISION
WALES

POSITION STATEMENT

5th October 2022

epilepsy action




epilepsy action

Epilepsy Service Provision Wales - Position Statement

Contents
L. INEFOTUCTION ..ottt b et b e e b sa e sn et naenea 2
2. BACKGIOUNG.......cooiiieiee ettt et sttt et e st e et e s teebaesbesteessentesnsensessennnas 2
2.2 Service configuration and WOTKFOICE.........c.oceiirirenireeeeeese e 3
2.3 HEAIN BOAIUS. ...c.eieeeeiieieeieeis ettt ettt b e neenen 5
24 INHS TTUSES ..ttt st st e e s bt et e s bt ebe et e s bt e se e nesae e e e neeanes 6
2.5 PUDIIC Health WAIES .........coiiiiicc ettt 6
3.0 Health Board SErviCe PrOVISION.........ccuiiiiiriiiiieiieieieseeiereetsre ettt 6
3.1 ANeurin BeVan UHB ...ttt 7
3.2 Swansea Bay University Health Board (SBUHB).........cccccvirininineneieiceeseeeeen 8
3.3 HYWEI DAA UHBL........ooiiieeeeeeesteee sttt sttt st e et esseensesneenaessennnens 11
3.4 Cardiff and Vale UHB ........ccociiiiiiie et 12
3.5 CWIM TAF UHB ...ttt 14
3.6  Betsi Cadwaladr UHB NOIrth Wales..........ccccoevininieiieieinieisreneseeeeeeeeie e 15
3.7 POWYS THB.ooooeeoeeeeeeeeeseeees e s e s eseee s ses s 17
4.0 Conclusion and ReCOMMENTALIONS ........cccoiiiiriirieiiieiereerei ettt 18

1

Pack Page 104



epilepsy action

Epilepsy Service Provision Wales - Position Statement

1. Introduction

The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of the current healthcare provision and
available services across Wales to deliver care for patients and service users with epilepsy.

The report brings together the range of available information to describe what services and
associated resources are available against each health board and perceived gaps in the
inequity of service provision for people with epilepsy across Wales. As part of the review areas
of good practice have been highlighted which if adopted nationally would benefit the health
economy and the patients they serve.

The following presents the range of available information drawn upon:

a) How each health board delivers their epilepsy services against the workforce,
demographics and available resources.

b) The findings from the national Neurological Alliance ‘My Neuro Survey’ published
2022.The responses were further analysed to be specific to patients and service users
in Wales.

c) Each Health Board’s response to the Welsh Parliament’s Petitions Committee request
for assurance against what services and resources are in place to meet the needs of
people with epilepsy across Wales. It must be noted that responses were received
from all, with exception of Hywel Dda.

It is important to note that the report would have further benefited by including the Welsh
national data dashboard for epilepsy. While we did consider submitting FOI requests for
information, we felt that this would have been inappropriate given the current constraints on
the NHS.

2. Background

Epilepsy is a common, fluctuating, and invisible condition associated with an array of
psychosocial complications. Its episodic and varying nature means that conventional models
of service delivery are not easily adapted. Comorbidities are common, and epilepsy is
especially associated with learning disabilities.

Across Wales, the prevalence of epilepsy is 1% (approximately 32,000 people with epilepsy
(PWE)), with localised variation linked to levels of deprivation. Optimal use of anti-seizure
medication (ASM) can control seizures in up to 70% of patients. Unfortunately, only around
52% of patients achieve sustained seizure freedom, with 30% of patients becoming refractory
to all treatment. This shortfall in the success of treatment with ASMs may be due to refractory
disease, poor tolerability, patient adherence to medication, lifestyle factors (e.g., alcohol,
drugs, poor sleep, and stress) or misdiagnosis. This data infers that approximately 5,200
people in Wales have preventable seizures.

Those people with seizures that cannot be controlled with existing treatments continue to face
additional risks due to their epilepsy. Each year epilepsy is linked to over 100,000 unplanned
hospital admissions and 1000 early deaths in the UK. As many as 40% of these deaths could
be prevented.

In 2021/2022, The Neurological Alliance ran a survey — My Neuro Survey — to give a picture
of the experience of care, treatment and support for people affected by neurological
conditions. The UK wide survey was run in partnership with the Welsh Neurological Alliance
and included a version specifically for children and young people with a neurological condition.

2
Pack Page 105



epilepsy action

Epilepsy Service Provision Wales - Position Statement

Nationally, over 8,500 people shared their experiences and reported:

e Delays to treatment and care can change your life forever. 55% of adults and 60%
of children and young people living with a neurological condition experienced delays
to routine appointments with specialists in the last year.

e Most people with a neurological condition are unable to access the mental
wellbeing support they need. 40% reported their mental wellbeing needs are not
being met at all.

e Finding out you have a neurological condition is scary and confusing. Receiving
the right information and support can make a real difference. 2 in 10 were not given
an explanation of their diagnosis. Almost 4 in 10 adults reported not being given any
information at all.

Given the overall findings, the submitted responses specific to epilepsy and localised to Wales
highlight a number of specific and concerning issues which fit against the three key findings:

o 62% of respondents experienced delays with a routine appointment with their
neurologist

o 58% of respondents experienced delays with a mental health appointment

e 44% of respondents stated that their mental health had become worse over the past
12 months

e 41% of respondents stated that they felt that their mental wellbeing needs were not
being met at all

e 38% of respondents stated that they waited more than 12 months for a diagnosis after
first experiencing symptoms

e 68% of respondents had not been offered a care and support plan to help manage
their neurological condition in the last three years

2.1 Service configuration and Workforce

Delivering a coordinated, effective and efficient epilepsy service is dependent on a model that
can deliver integrated, timely and patient centred care. Historically, the number of neurologists
working in the NHS has been low, and services have developed reflecting this situation. As a
result, many disorders that are managed within neurology in other countries, such as stroke
and dementia, have predominantly fallen under other specialties in the UK. The time is now
right, given the changing population and commissioning of services to manage long term
conditions, mental health and an aging population to implement sustainable and efficient
service models. Ones which can demonstrate improving outcomes, long term resource use
e.g., acute admissions and enhance patient and service user experience.

Most patients with epilepsy achieve remission with appropriate medication, and follow-up aims
to support those patients (usually the epilepsy specialist nurse) and provide a point of contact
for when difficulties arise. Some patients do not achieve remission; the role of follow-up in
such cases is to understand why:

e Is the diagnosis correct?

e Is the patient on the most appropriate medication?
e Are there other issues or comorbidities?

e Is the patient taking the medication?

These phases of management should be within the competence of a neurologists with an
interest in epilepsy outside of a specialist, tertiary hospital.

Pack Page 106



epilepsy action

Epilepsy Service Provision Wales - Position Statement

Patients with refractory or difficult epilepsy need access to clinicians with a particular interest
in epilepsy who in turn have access to appropriate neurophysiology — notably, prolonged EEG
and video-telemetry - and neuroradiology.

There are neurologists with an interest in epilepsy based at all neuroscience centres and at
some neurology centres. At some sites they also assess for surgical management for epilepsy.

The Epilepsy Specialist Nurse (ESN) role has evolved to complement that of the clinician with
94% being involved in the monitoring and adjustment of medication to optimize seizure control.
This has also included taking the lead in delivering a range of additional responsibilities,
including rescue medication training, and providing or signposting to other support agencies
and networks. The ESPENTE report highlights the cost-effectiveness of employing an
adequate number of ESNs, in addition to the time they can save clinicians. But more
importantly improve patient and service user experience and wellbeing.

However, the ESN role has over time been downgraded by Health Boards as a way of reducing
staff costs. They have been considered as an expensive commaodity, with the increasing
pressure to demonstrate the value and cost-effectiveness of their role in patient care.

The role of the ESN is regarded as key to providing patient centred care by undertaking work
which otherwise would place additional pressure on the consultant neurologist and
compromise a patient’s access to specialist care and ongoing support in both primary and
secondary care.

Set in context the Office for National Statistics estimates that the adult population of Wales
(aged 16 and over) mid 2020 to be 2,606,856.

Prevalence of epilepsy is approximately 0.8% in Wales which is about 20, 850 adults with
epilepsy in Wales. From the total number of available 9.5 WTE ESNs available in Wales that
equates to a ratio of 1 nurse to every 2,195 patients. This is extremely low and inequitable.

The Steers report (2008) recommended a ratio of 300:1. This being the case then for Wales
there should be 70 ENS in post.!

Recommendations from the Royal College of Physicians and the Association of British
Neurologists suggested a minimum of 9 ENS per 500,000 population. Again, given this
review Wales should have in place 47 ESN’s."

The provision of ESNs is nowhere near these numbers and is woefully short. To also note
using the 2012 epilepsy population estimates in there were 39,650 cases in Scotland ' with
approximately 50 ENS, that is 1 ESN per 793 of the epilepsy population."

i Clwyd, G. 2008. Report of the Welsh Neuroscience External Expert Review Group: Recommendations for Mid
and South Wales. Available at
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/documents/NeuroscienceReviewMidSouthWalesRecommendations2018September2
008. Accessed 30th January 2022

i (RCP London 2011 Local adult neurology services for the next decade. Available at https://mstrust.org.uk
accessed 1st February 2022). This is equivalent to an ENS caseload of approximately 550 patients.

iiThomas, R. et al 2012. 056 Variability in adult epilepsy prevalence in the UK. Available at 056 Variability in adult
epilepsy prevalence in the UK | Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry (bmj.com)

v (Lloyd R. Personal communication 6th February 2022)

What Does a Good Model Look Like?

4
Pack Page 107


https://www.ilae.org/files/dmfile/The-ESPENTE-Study---Epilepsy-Specialist-Nurses.pdf
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/documents/NeuroscienceReviewMidSouthWalesRecommendations2018September2008
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/documents/NeuroscienceReviewMidSouthWalesRecommendations2018September2008
https://mstrust.org.uk/
https://jnnp.bmj.com/content/83/3/e1.222
https://jnnp.bmj.com/content/83/3/e1.222

epilepsy action

Epilepsy Service Provision Wales - Position Statement

From the findings and assessment of each differing Health Board, the recruitment to ESN
posts and the availability of neurologists with specialist competency in epilepsy is not
widespread or at worst not available or invested in. Considering these findings, what has
become apparent is the implementation of :

a) A resourced ‘Open Access’ service model, one which is patient centred and service

responsive. This model has presented measurable improvement in patient and service
outcomes and is well established within two of the five Health Boards (see
3.0). Introducing an ‘open access’ model, co-ordinated by central administration
provides support to clinical staff by protecting essential clinical time. Implementing this
has proven to reduces the burden on the appointment system, emergency admissions
and A&E attendance and enhances patient experience, mental health and is
supportive of other key stakeholders e.g., primary care. Patients and service users
have a direct link into secondary and primary care services through a co-ordinated
triage system.
Whilst the service runs well within the two Health Boards, this does still require
goodwill, tenacity, and enthusiasm from the existing workforce. Additional ESN
resource would enhance sustainable quality improvement and further improved patient
outcomes.

b) A structured integrated services for the transition of young people into an adult service.
The main focus being to ensure that services are available to support and monitor
ongoing care and treatment to old age.

The epilepsy teams across three health boards (Cardiff and Vale, Swansea Bay and Aneurin
Bevan) continue to work through a clinical network with quarterly meetings. This collective
approach has resulted in publication of a First Seizure Pathway (2021). The group also
continue to work on refinement of an epilepsy data dashboard which will be critical to informing
future understanding of epilepsy epidemiology and need.

2.2 Health Boards

There are seven Local Health Boards (LHBs) within Wales. Each is responsible for the
planning, securing and delivery of healthcare services in their area. They now replace the 22
LHBs and the 7 NHS Trusts which together performed these functions in the past.

Aneurin Bevan Health Board;

Swansea Bay University Health Board;

Hywel Dda Health Board;

Cardiff & Vale University Health Board;

Cwm Taf Morgannwg Health Board,;

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board; and
Powys Teaching Health Board.

Pack Page 108



epilepsy action

Epilepsy Service Provision Wales - Position Statement

Betsi Cadwaladr
University Health Board

Powys
Teaching
Health
Board

Hywel Dda
University Health Board

Aneurin Bevan

University
I Health Board
Swansea Bay University &—— Cardiff and Vale
Health Board University

Health Board

Cwm Taf Morgannwg
University Health Board

2.3 NHS Trusts

There are two NHS Trusts in Wales, these are the Welsh Ambulance Services Trust
(emergency services) and Velindre NHS Trust offering specialist services in cancer care and
a range of national support services.

e Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust;
e Velindre NHS Trust

2.4 Public Health Wales

Public Health Wales is the unified Public Health organisation in Wales.

The organisation became fully operational on 1 October 2009 and now exercises the functions
of the National Public Health Service, Wales Centre for Health, Welsh Cancer Intelligence &
Surveillance Unit, Congenital Anomaly Register & Information Service for Wales, and
Screening Services Wales all with a nation-wide remit.

3.0 Health Board Service Provision

To inform the assessment of each individual Health Board’s current epilepsy service provision,
key lines of inquiry have been applied. This also includes the responses made to the Welsh

Pack Page 109


http://www.was-tr.wales.nhs.uk/
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/home.cfm?orgid=34
http://howis.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/888/page/34263

epilepsy action

Epilepsy Service Provision Wales - Position Statement

Petitions Committee’s request for information and assurance (appendix 1). It must be noted
that responses were received from all, with the exception of Hywel Dda.

For the purpose of this report each Health Board has been addressed in turn, presenting the
service configuration, areas of good practice, gaps in service, threats and opportunities.

3.1 Aneurin Bevan UHB

Aneurin Bevan University Health Board covers the former Gwent region, including Blaenau
Gwent, Caerphilly, Monmouthshire, Newport, Torfaen, and south Powys.

The total number of people registered with epilepsy is approximately 6,000 patients. The
number of patients registered on the adult epilepsy team database who have and continue to
receive care in the last 5 years is 2664.

,_./ .
" Aneurin Bevan

U n ive rsi ty 1. Ysbyty Ystrad Fawr (YTF) 7.5t Cadoc’s Hospital
2. Ysbyty Aneurin Bevan (YAB) 8. St Woolos Hospital
3. ¥sbyty'r Tri Chwm (YTC) 9. Royal Gwent Hospital
4. Nevill Hall Hospital 10. Chepstow Community Hospital
5. County Hospital 11. Monmouth Hospital
6. Llanfrechfa Grange Hospital (Monnow Vale)

Workforce and Service Configuration

The current workforce is described below. The Health Board is currently advertising for an
additional 1 x WTE Epilepsy Clinical Nurse Specialist and 1 x WTE Consultant with a Specialist
Interest in Epilepsy to address gaps in current provision.

ESN X1 FT Adult

X2 PT Adult (1 about to leave)
X4 PT Paediatric
Coordinator | X1 FT HCA (Fixed Term)

Consultant X1 Neurologist (1 day/week)
X1 Epileptologist

An ‘open access’ epilepsy service is in place. The co-ordinator role is a (fix term) full time
health care support worker acting as an epilepsy coordinator. This has been transformational

Pack Page 110


http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/866/home

epilepsy action

Epilepsy Service Provision Wales - Position Statement

and well evaluated to support the team and access for patients to the services including e-
referrals from GPs and hospital teams.

The local hub for patients and service user access is through the Royal Gwent Hospital. A
transitional service is in place which is consultant led.

The current waiting time to be seen for a first seizure clinic is 2-3 months. However, a number
of patients may also have direct access whilst waiting for their ‘formal’ clinic assessment using
the acute neurology service, which supports patients at admission or in emergency
department.

Routine epilepsy appointment ranges from 6-10 months.

The number of emergency seizure admissions has demonstrated a reduction from 2017 to
2022. This is predominantly in response to the ‘open access’ co-ordinator role (Graphl) This
is also complimented with the new single point of access service located within ABUHB. The
reduction since 2021 (285) to 87 in 2022.

Graph 1

400

350 371
349

300 300

293 285
250

200
150
100

87
50

Number of emergency seizure admissions

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
Year

Identified Risks

¢ Inadequate workforce to run the service, particularly insufficient ESN resources to
cover for leave, run additional specialist services e.g., transition, community services.
e The co-ordinator is not a substantive role.

3.2 Swansea Bay University Health Board (SBUHB)

Swansea Bay UHB covers Swansea, Neath Port Talbot, and Bridgend. It serves a population
of approximately half a million people and manages an annual budget of £1.3bn.

SBUHB has approximately 6,000 patients with epilepsy and has in place well organised
paediatrics and adult transitional care.

Pack Page 111


http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/863/home

epilepsy action

Epilepsy Service Provision Wales - Position Statement

® HOSPITALS

Abertawe Bro
Morgannwg
University

. Morriston Hospital
. Singleton Hospital
. Neath Port Talbot General Hospital

. Princess of Wales Hospital

H W N =

Workforce and Service Configuration

The Swansea Bay Regional Epilepsy Service (SBRES) evolved from a need to provide the
best quality support for patients, and the need for change was made more pressing by the
combination of the pandemic and austerity.

ESN X 2 FT adult
X 2 FT paediatric

Co-ordinator X1 Co-ordinator (80% FTE for epilepsy)

Consultant 3 Neurologists

Dr Rob Powell

Dr Owen Pickrell (60% FTE NHS)
Dr Inder Sawhney

In times of prudent health care, pandemics and long waiting lists, it's clear that traditional
systems no longer serve the people as they should. SBRES have clear, shared values and as
a team have transformed a clunky, inflexible service into one that works for all.

Two epilepsy specialist nurses and the epilepsy coordinator joined the team in 2020, which is
when the current patient-centred service took shape. Patients call or email the open access
(OA) service at any time. Clinical responses to raised concerns or change in condition are
made within 48 hours. Patients are triaged over the phone. Most issues including
prescriptions, medication changes, patient counselling, fact finding, reassurance, and
education around mental health and epilepsy is managed.

The longest waiting patients are offered a choice between open access (OA) or a routine
appointment. Most people choose the OA route and are placed on the ‘Patient Initiated Follow
Up’ (PIFU) supported by the OA service. Patients’ evaluation indicates a positive experience

Pack Page 112



epilepsy action

Epilepsy Service Provision Wales - Position Statement

to the “call us whenever you need us", particularly as they are given back control and the
ability to self-manage.

The epilepsy coordinator coordinates a triaging system, collecting and screening all epilepsy
referrals, identifying patients known to the service and those who may be suitable for phone
or e-mail advice. The coordinator actively monitors waiting times for appointments, mapping
capacity to demand.

A weekly multidisciplinary team meeting is in place where all new referrals are reviewed to
identify those suitable for telephone or email advice. Bookings are managed at the time by the
coordinator, resolving waiting times. The flexibility in the approach means instead of booking
an appointment a simple call can be arranged between the ESN or consultant with the patient.

Answerphone and email messages are monitored Monday to Friday, and patients are
contacted within 48 hours. All telephone and email consultations form monitored clinical
activity. Evaluating the OA service indicates a positive decline in a range of measurable
outcomes (Table 1) and referral time to treatment.

Table 1
Before Open Access | After Open Access Service
Service

Total number of patients on | 1394 213

‘Follow Up Not Booked’ (FUNB)

lists

Total number breaching targets 784 39

Average waiting times for | 21 3

consultant epilepsy clinic (weeks)

The improvements in experience for patients has meant that:

e They can access virtual telephone clinics and general access to the clinical staff
¢ Reduced travel to clinic, particularly important as most are unable to drive

e Seen at times of need - more efficient consultations

e There has been fewer did not attends

Other service developments include.

e a GP email advice service providing specialist epilepsy management advice
(satisfaction rate of 98% amongst users)

e a rapid access “First Seizure Clinic” for the prompt assessment and investigation of
patients who have suffered a first epileptic seizure, allowing patients to be discharged
quickly from the emergency department

e biweekly antenatal epilepsy clinic for women with epilepsy to have the best possible
care and support during pregnancy

e bimonthly adolescent Transition to Adult Services Clinics, run jointly with Paediatric
services

10
Pack Page 113



epilepsy action

Epilepsy Service Provision Wales - Position Statement

Swansea are constantly studying and evaluating the service to understand the impact of the
changes and take the learning to improve services.is involves consistently

Working to develop a national epilepsy dashboard to measure the number of ED attendances
and hospital admissions. Using this data alongside patient related outcome measures
(PROMSs)continues.

Identified Risk

¢ Inadequate workforce to perform a full regional service for Swansea and Hywel Dda

o Insufficient ESN resources to cover for leave, run additional specialist services e.g.,
transition, community services

¢ Heavy load of ESN doing open access work — risks of burnout

¢ One consultant approaching retirement

¢ Inequity across the region, limited access for patients from Hywel Dda

o Delays for epilepsy surgery and VNS treatment.

3.3 Hywel Dda UHB

Covering the west Wales region including Carmarthenshire, Ceredigion, and
Pembrokeshire, Hywel Dda University Health Board provides healthcare to around 384,000
people.

Approximately 4,500 patients with epilepsy. This figure has been extrapolated from GP
register available extracts as there was no access to any other data.

Batsi Cadwalade
University

Hywel Dda
University

1. Bronglais General Hospital 5. Prince Philip Hospital

2. Tregaron Community Hospital 6. Glangwili General Hospital

3. Llandovery Hospital 7. Withybush General Hospital
4. Amman Valley Hospital 8. South Pembrokeshire
Hospital

11
Pack Page 114


http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/862/home

epilepsy action

Epilepsy Service Provision Wales - Position Statement

Workforce and Service Configuration

There is little information or response from the Health Board and Swansea Bay UHB support
the service with little recognition.

The two consultant neurologists have no specific epilepsy competencies. They are invited to
the Swansea Bay UHB multidisciplinary team meetings. As they have no specialist knowledge
the patients receive and inadequate specific epilepsy service. This is where possible picked
up by Swansea Bay UHB, who are now feeling the constraints and impact on providing their
OWnN Open access service.

The ‘open access’ available at Hywel Dda is poorly resourced and is led by the adult fulltime
ESN. Which means that the burden is great on the nurse. At this time, we have no outcome
data, or a response made to the Welsh Parliamentary Petitions Committee.

There is an ESN for learning disabilities in post.

There is no dedicated transitional service for paediatrics to adults

ESN x1 FT Adult

x1 PT Adult

x1 Paediatric (Covering 8 hospitals)

X 1 LD Nurse

Co-ordinator 0

Consultants X2 Neurologists — No epilepsy specialist —
general neurology

Identified Risks

¢ It has the highest budget overspend of all the Wales health boards, partly due to
problems attracting and retaining staff in its rural locations.
Only one nurse allocated to deliver the adult epilepsy service

e Open clinic with only one nurse and no co-ordinator
No response received to the Petitions Committee.

3.4 Cardiff and Vale UHB

There are currently 5000 active patients requiring on going management, with a further 1300
new referrals a year and around 15000 as having been through the department living with

Epilepsy.

Under current commissioning arrangements the UHB provides secondary care for epilepsy for
patients in their own, and Cwm Taf Morgannwg UHB areas. This catchment area covers a
population of approximately 700,000.

12
Pack Page 115


http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/863/home
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/863/home
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/863/home
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/863/home

epilepsy action

Epilepsy Service Provision Wales - Position Statement

Furthermore, current commissioning also requires the UHB to provide tertiary services, manly
for epilepsy surgery to a South Wales catchment population of 2.4m.

& HOSPITALS

Cardiff & Vale
University

1. Barry Community Hospital

2. Rookwood Hospital

3. University Hospital of Wales (UHW)
4. St David’s Hospital

5. University Hospital Llandough

Workforce and Service Configuration

Current waiting times for patients with a suspected first seizure is on average 22 days, which
does not meet NICE guidelines, which recommend a waiting time of no longer than 2 weeks.

In addition, the current wait for new cases (routine) is just under a year with some reduction
noted.

The increase in demand in general for a patient to be seen in a clinical setting by a neurologist
has also increased. With increased demands on the service the waiting time for patients
triaged as ‘routine’ has also increased.

ESN X4WTE Adult

X1.5WTE Paediatric (covers all 5 hospitals)
Coordinator 0
Consultant X2 Neurologist (Adult)

X1 Neurologist (paediatric)
X4 Neurosurgeons — based at Cardiff &
Vales

The ‘Open Access’ system allows patients to contact the department directly if they have
concerns about their epilepsy, without the need for outpatient appointments. Access through
this system averages 5000 patient encounters per year, with most receiving instant access to
care, clinical input within 24 hours, and changes in treatment where required.

13
Pack Page 116



epilepsy action

Epilepsy Service Provision Wales - Position Statement

Cardiff and Vale, also use the single point access for patients. Through this service, patients
are referred in to a team of professionals who meet to decide which service and team is best
placed to provide the correct treatment plan.

Patients are referred to see a consultant neurologist via their GP. However acute cases are
directed through the emergency department.

The ESNs provide a range of specialty clinics, including antenatal and low-grade glioma within
the University Hospital of Wales (Cardiff).

Identified Risks

e There is currently no psychology provision for patients within Cardiff and Vale in line
with current NICE guidance which recommends access to this service.

o Cardiff and Vale does not have any other epilepsy hub provision except outpatient
treatment and review within Rookwood hospital.

¢ Providing a widespread open access service without a central coordinator.

3.5 Cwm Taf UHB

Betsi Cadwaladr
University

Cwm Taf
University

Aneurin Bevan
University

Cwm Taf
University

Cardiff &
Vale University

1. Royal Glamorgan Hospital
2. Pontypridd Cottage Hospital
3. Ysbyty Cwm Rhondda

4. Ysbyty Cwm Cynon

5. Prince Charles Hospital

Cwm Taf University Health Board(CTMUHB) provides services to 300,000 people in Merthyr
Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf, using prevalence statistics we can estimate that this equates
to 3,000 people with epilepsy.

Workforce and Service Configuration

A Neurology Services review was undertaken by the Health Board’s Commissioning team in
March 2018 which demonstrated significant shortfalls across the range of neurological
services.

14
Pack Page 117


http://cwmtaf.wales/

epilepsy action

Epilepsy Service Provision Wales - Position Statement

The neurology service is not provided directly by CTMUHB, a service level agreement (SLA)
exists between Cardiff and Vale UHB for patients in the Rhondda Taf Ely and Merthyr Cynon
areas. The Bridgend and Maesteg areas receive their neurology services via an SLA with
Swansea Bay UHB.

ESN 0 —integrated service with Cardiff
Coordinator X2 WTE Paediatric - Base Cwm Taf
Consultant X2 Neurologist (general)

Patients within the CTMUHB population access clinical nurse specialist support from the
service within Cardiff. Whilst this service is comprehensive and is addresses patient safety, a
positive step would be for CTMUHB to commissioning the service locally and support patients
to locally access a service in their own locality.

Identified Risks

e There are currently no ESNs dedicated to the CTMUHB population, this service is
provided by Cardiff and Vale ESNs on a goodwill basis which is unsustainable and
serviced by clinics in Cardiff. This results in a high DNA rate within the clinics as they
are not close to the population they serve.

e For the past two years, shortfalls in neurological provision have been highlighted as a
risk within the Health Board’s Integrated Medium-Term Plan, but due to competing
priorities has not received additional funding.

3.6 Betsi Cadwaladr UHB North Wales

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board is the largest health organisation in Wales, covering
Anglesey, Gwynedd, Conwy, Denbighshire, Flintshire, and Wrexham.

With an annual budget of £1.3bn, it serves a population of around 678,000 people and has
three main hospitals and several community hospitals.

The number of people within the population with epilepsy is approximately 5,020

The health board is made up of 12 hospitals and co-ordinates more than 100 GP practices
including dental, optical and pharmacy services.

® HOSPITALS

2
5
034 8
1 %4 ° 10
o ® 7 ® o
. &) ey
Betsi Cadwaladr 1.1
University 12 .

1. Ysbyty Gwynedd 7. Ruthin Community Hospital

2. Llandudno General Hospital 8. Holywell Community Hospital
3. Colwyn Bay Hospital 9. Mold Community Hospital

4. Abergele Hospital 10. Deeside Community Hospital
5. Glan Clwyd Hospital 11. Wrexham Maelor Hospital

6. Denbigh Community Hospital 12. Chirk Community Hospital

15
Pack Page 118


http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/861/home

epilepsy action

Epilepsy Service Provision Wales - Position Statement

Workforce and Service Configuration

The Health Board was put into special measures in 2015. In 2022 extra funding was secured
with an improvement team to facilitate and support quality improvement.

The average waiting time for first appointment with a Consultant Neurologist is currently 26
weeks.

ESN X1 WTE Adult
X3 Paediatric

Co-ordinator 0

Consultant X4 Neurologist (x1 Walton Centre / North
Wales)
X2 Alder Hey

Currently the ESNs do not operate an open access service but share workloads with the
neurologist.

A satellite service, including midwifery support is provided by one ESN covering 3 hospitals
and a large geographical area.

Transitional service:

Alder Hey is committed to improving Transition as it is one of the Trust’s strategic objectives.
There is a Transition Steering Group, a 10 step Transition Plan, a lead transition nurse and
lead transition consultant.

To support epilepsy management and treatment there is a monthly transition clinic based at
the Walton Centre. This is supported by both an adult neurologist and a paediatric neurologist
from Alder Hey. Approximately 60 young people with complex epilepsy are seen as new
patients in this clinic per year.

There is currently no nursing provision at this clinic due to paucity of resources within both
children and adult epilepsy nursing teams. However not every young person with epilepsy is
referred to the Walton clinic as some are referred back to their local adult services and /or GP.

Identified Risks

e As the largest health board in Wales, and one covering a rural area, it is of very real
concern that there is currently only one adult ESN. This puts an incredible amount of
pressure of this individual.

e Patients in this area are facing incredibly long waiting times for Consultant
Neurologists.

e Betsi Cadwaladr also relies on the Walton Centre and Alder Hey for a number of
services.

e 3 Paediatric ESN’s cover 6 counties in North Wales, this includes support in schools
and means they are stretched to provide acute and primary care.

16
Pack Page 119



epilepsy action

Epilepsy Service Provision Wales - Position Statement

3.7 Powys THB

It has been recognised that Powys does not have a dedicated neurology service — these are
provided by the neighbouring health boards and includes Aneurin Bevan, Betsi and possibly
some provided by England.

The health board is responsible for providing services to a population of 133,000 people. From
current prevalence statistics, we can estimate that there are around 1,330 people with epilepsy
in this area.

v

Betsi Cadwaladr
Unlvarsity

Povrys Teaching

Hoywel Dela

Powys
Teaching

h
Univarsity

Cwm Taf
University
Abertawe Bro

Margannwg Cardiff &
University Vale University

1. Ystradgynlais Community Hospital 6. Machynlleth Community Hospital

2. Brecon War Memorial Hospital 7. Welshpool Hospital

the Victoria M al
3. Bronllys Hospital (the Victoria Memerial)

4. Uandrindod Wells Hospital 8. Newtown Hospital

5. Llanidloes War M +al Hospital 9. Knighton Hospital

Identified Risks

¢ With no neurology services people with epilepsy in Powys are reliant on services in
neighbouring health boards, including services in England.

e As a rural area, this puts increased pressure on people with epilepsy living within
Powys travelling out of the area to access services.

17
Pack Page 120



epilepsy action

Epilepsy Service Provision Wales - Position Statement

4.0 Conclusion and Recommendations

In response to the available information, it is clear that there is inequity in service provision
across Wales. It is acknowledged that one model does not always fit all demographics,
inequalities, or available resource. However, what the collective intelligence tells us is that
action at pace is required to improve the care for people with epilepsy and reduce pressures
on both the specialist epilepsy workforce and neurology waiting lists.

We acknowledge that the availability of ESN’s and Neurologists is more complex that purely
identifying investment, they need to be there to be recruited, particularly within this current
climate. This is why we want the focus on having in place widespread adoption of an epilepsy
service with a dedicated coordinator role, recognising the positive impact this brings. Adoption
of the best practice model ‘Open Access’ has shown demonstratable.

Access to treatments, services and support helps people living with neurological conditions
manage their condition; to identify early signs of complications; and put in place prevention
and treatment strategies to avoid unscheduled hospital admissions. However, neurology has
historically been an underfunded, low priority service in Wales and all too often, our community
has reported substantial barriers to accessing the treatment, services and support that this
group of patients need from health and care services.

Epilepsy Action is calling on the Welsh Department of Health to support and influence those
Health Boards where there are inequalities in service provision for people with epilepsy, and
to learn from existing good practice and to fully implement national guidance (NICE CG 217
(2022) by:

e Supporting measures to reduce current waiting times for epilepsy services and health
professionals in Wales. This can be achieved by ensuring the levels of staffing across
the Health Boards of Wales are appropriately resourced to achieve and maintain
sustainability, patient safety and quality of service. Based on the recommendations
from the Royal College of Physicians and the Association of British Neurologists, which
suggested a minimum of 9 ENS per 500,000 population - equivalent to an ENS
caseload of approximately 550 patients, this table presents the number of ESNs each
health board should have in place.

Health Board Population with epilepsy Total number | Total number of
required current ESNs
ESNs
Aneurin Bevan e 6000 adults with 11 7
epilepsy
Swansea Bay e 6000 adults with 11 4
epilepsy
Hywel Dda e 4500 adults with 8 3
epilepsy
Cardiff e 5000 active patients 9 4
requiring on going
management
18

Pack Page 121



epilepsy action

Epilepsy Service Provision Wales - Position Statement

Cwm Taf e provides services to 5 0 integrated
300,000 service with Cardiff

Betsi Cadwaladr e approximately 5,020 9 4
adults with epilepsy

Powys e provides services to 2 No dedicated
133,000 neurology service

¢ Implementing the widespread adoption of ‘epilepsy service coordinators’ and the
positive impact this role has on epilepsy services to support a best practice model,
such as ‘Open Access’; has shown demonstrable improvements in clinical outcomes
(reduced emergency admissions), reduction in outpatient attendances and improved
patient experience. This approach preserves clinical resources and expedites timely
access to services.

¢ Reviewing the provision of transition services to ensure these are available across all
Health Boards and that there are no inequalities in the transition of children and young
people into adult services. This reduces patient safety issues and improves clinical
outcomes as a long-term condition.

Epilepsy Action

Alison Fuller-Director of Health Improvement & Influencing
Jan Paterson-Wales Services & Project Manager

Daniel Jennings-Senior Policy & Campaigns Officer
Consultant Neurologists

Dr Robert Powell

Dr Owen Pickrell

19
Pack Page 122



Agenda ltem 3.4

P-06-1249 Provide a clinical pathway, medical care, and specialists for
people with Tourette’s syndrome in Wales

This petition was submitted by Helen Reeves Graham, having collected a
total of 10,393 signatures.

Text of Petition:

Tourette’s affects 1 in 100 children. It is not a rare condition. In Wales there
is 1 specialist who doesn't see children.

Tourette’s syndrome is a neurological disorder that affects the nervous
system and causes tics. Tics are involuntary, sudden, and repetitive
movements and sounds. Tourette’s syndrome can be painful and
debilitating.

Lots of people are unable to get a diagnosis due to no pathway or get
discharged the same day with no ongoing medical care and support.
Tourette’s isn't just swearing.

Additional Information:

Not getting medical care and support can lead to long term mental health
problems. People with Tourette’s can have difficulties with anxiety, sleep,
rage and social isolation.

We NEED a proper, clear, clinical pathway and access to specialist provision
and medical care for people with Tourette’s syndrome in Wales.

Senedd Constituency and Region
e Preseli Pembrokeshire
e Mid and West Wales

Pack Page 123



Written Statement by the Deputy Minister for Social Services: Improvements in
Neurodevelopmental Conditions Services, 6 July 2022

| am pleased to inform Members that, in addition to more than £11.5m already
invested to improve autism services over the next three years, we will be making an
additional £12m available to support a new national improvement programme for
neurodevelopmental conditions to 2025.

This programme will support the development of timely and consistent all-age
neurodevelopmental services and will include much-needed additional advice and
support services for parents and carers.

This new investment follows our strong track record in investing in and supporting
autistic people. Wales was the first part of the UK to publish an autism strategy in
2008 and, more recently, our statutory Code of Practice on the Delivery of Autism

Services, came into effect in September 2021.

Our aim is to build on these foundations to ensure equity of services and support
for people with other neurodevelopmental conditions, such ADHD and Tourette’s
syndrome.

Neurodevelopmental services are under pressure, which has only intensified as a
result of the pandemic. Increased awareness of autism and other
neurodevelopmental conditions has led to rising demand for assessment and
support, which has unfortunately led to longer waiting times and gaps in provision,
which need to be addressed urgently.

To help us understand where action should be targeted, we commissioned an
independent demand and capacity review. A summary report is published today. It
highlights where our existing reforms have worked well, where there are gaps, and
where urgent attention is needed. The full report will be published shortly.

The review confirms long-standing concerns that swifter access to support and
assessment is needed. Services should be based on need rather than led by
diagnosis - this echoes the Children’s Commissioner for Wales’ 2020 No Wrong
Door report about children’s mental health and wellbeing.

The collaborative working evident in the Integrated Autism Service is working well
across traditional health and local authority service boundaries, providing support
based on need and reflecting the social model of disability. We will build on this
success, taking a whole systems approach, placing the individual and their families
and carers at the centre of the care they receive.

But we have a significant task ahead of us to take forward the conclusions from the
review as we develop a sustainable approach to future service delivery.

To make progress we will advance the legacy of the Together for Children and
Young People’s programme which worked with stakeholders to create a solid base
for service improvement across assessment services. We will also build on the work
of the National Autism Team; the autism leads network and the Integrated Autism
Service. The views of people with lived experience will be at the centre of everything
we want to achieve.

Pack Page 124


https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fgov.wales%2Freview-demand-capacity-and-design-neurodevelopmental-services-summary-report&data=05%7C01%7CRachel.Brown%40gov.wales%7Ce5228be6a2cd4b532e4008da552891a6%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C0%7C637915929964773002%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=4N5z4osRKD5eCV5LEheyiNrmI8C9ScV1cosueuc2Ut0%3D&reserved=0
https://www.childcomwales.org.uk/publications/no-wrong-door-bringing-services-together-to-meet-childrens-needs/
https://www.childcomwales.org.uk/publications/no-wrong-door-bringing-services-together-to-meet-childrens-needs/

The reform programme will have three main work streams - the first taking
immediate action to provide additional support to reduce some of the here-and-now
pressures on assessment services, and to quickly put in place much needed support
for parents and families.

The second workstream will co-produce and test models to reform
neurodevelopmental condition services so they meet identified needs and are
sustainable in the long term. The third workstream will develop important cross-
cutting priorities, including developing a workforce strategy, improved data
collection and monitoring and making the best use of digital opportunities to
support services in the future.

Since taking responsibility for this area last year, | have had the opportunity to meet
families and carers of children and young people with neurodevelopmental
conditions. | have been struck by their resilience and determination to navigate
their way through complex systems often with very little support.

| want this situation to change; to become easier. We must protect and support
families so they can continue in their vital caring roles and enable their loved ones
to lead fulfilling lives.

| will be monitoring delivery of our programme closely, there will be a new
Ministerial Advisory Group on neurodevelopmental conditions which will provide me
with advice on progress.

Over the next three years we will also be evaluating the implementation of the
Autism Code of Practice to find out if we are making the positive difference to
people’s lives we want to achieve.

| will keep Members updated about progress.

Pack Page 125



Agenda Item 3.5
P-06-1276 Extend section 25B of the Nurse Staffing Levels Act (Wales) 2016

This petition was submitted by Richard Jones, having collected a total of
10,572 signatures.

Text of Petition:

Nurses across Wales are short of 1,719 highly-skilled, life-saving staff
members. This means nursing staff give NHS Wales 34,284 extra hours every
single week - and it still isn’t enough. Research shows that where there are
fewer nurses, patients are 26% more likely to die overall rising to 29%
following complicated hospital stays. The Welsh Government should extend
Section 25B of the Nurse Staffing Levels (Wales) Act 2016 to give the Welsh
public the full team of nurses they desperately need.

Additional Information:

Section 25B of the Nurse Staffing Levels (Wales) Act 2016 requires health
boards and NHS trusts in Wales to take all reasonable steps to maintain a
specified nurse staffing level. The nurse staffing level is the number and skill
mix of nurses required to provide sensitive patient care. In addition, health
boards and trusts are required to inform the public of the levels of nursing
staff on any ward covered by Section 25B.

When the law was first passed, Section 25B only applied to acute adult
medical and surgical wards. On 1 October 2021, it was extended to
children’s wards. We want it to apply in all settings where nursing care is
provided, starting with community nursing and mental health inpatient
wards.

Follow our campaign on social media and get involved

#ForTheFullTeam.

Website: https://forthefullteam.com

Twitter: https://twitter.com/RCNWales

Facebook: https://www.facebook.com/RCNWales.

Senedd Constituency and Region
e Cynon Valley
e South Wales Central

Pack Page 126



Coleg Nyrsio Brenhinol

Cymru

Royal College of Nursing

Wales
Royal College of Nursing
Ty Maeth
King George V Drive East
Cardiff
CF14 4XZ

Richard Jones MBE
12 October 2022 RCN Wales Board Chair, RCN
Council Member

Jack Sargeant MS, . Telephone 02920 680703
Chair of the Petitions Committee Email Richard.Jones@rcn.org.uk

Welsh Parliament
Cardiff Bay
Cardiff

CF99 1SN

Dear Jack

| am writing to you in response to the plenary debate on petition P-06-1276, 'Extend
Section 25B of the Nurse Staffing Levels (Wales) Act 2016’.

As the Chair of the Royal College of Nursing (RCN) Wales, and as the petitioner, |
would first like to thank the Petition Committee for recommending our petition for
debate. It is of great value to the Senedd that topics such as nurse staffing levels can
be debated in plenary due to the democratic processes of the Senedd.

I'd specifically like to thank members of the Committee that spoke in favour of the
petition during the debate, including Joel James MS and Buffy Williams MS.

| was pleased to hear from Joel James MS that the Welsh Conservative’s
wholeheartedly support the petition as in his words it is clear the ‘situation nurses
find themselves in is both unacceptable, and in the long term, completely
unsustainable for the profession’.

Continued....
Coleg Nyrsio Brenhinol y Deyrnas Llywydd/President Mae’r RCN yn cynrychioli nrysys a nyrsio, gan hyrwyddo
Gyfunol/Royal College of Nursing Dr Denise Chaffer rhagoriaeth mewn arfer a llunio polisiau iechyd
of the United Kingdom Ysgri . .
! grifennydd Cyffredinol a
20 Cavendish Square Phrif Weithredwr/ The RCN represents nurses and nursing, promotes

Lundain/London W1G ORN excellence in practice and shapes health policies

! General Secretary &
Ffén/Telephone

Chief Executive

+44 (0) 20 7409 3333 Pat Cullen
RCN Direct 0345 772 6100 N _
ren.org.uk Cyfarwyddwr, RCN Cymru/ INVE STORS IN PE5JPI.E

Director, RCN Wales

Helen Whyley Rydym yn buddsoddi mewn llesiant Arian

Coleg Nyrsio Brenhinol Cymru
Swyddfa Gogledd Cymru/
Royal College of Nursing Wales

Ty Maeth, Rhodfa Ddwyreiniol/
Brenin George V/ Mae'r Coleg Nyrsio Brenhinol yn Goleg Brenhinol a sefydlwyd drwy Siarter Frenhinol ac Undeb Llafur Cofestr

King George V Drive East Arbennig a sefydlwyd a dan Ddeddf Undebau Llafur (Cydgrynhoi) 1992.

Caerdydd/Cardiff The RCN is a Royal College set up by Royal Charter and a Special Register Trade Union established under the

CF14 4XZ Trade Uniﬁegﬂéﬁoﬁeaméug (Ciringation) Act 1992,


mailto:Richard.Jones@rcn.org.uk

12 October 2022 2

| wholeheartedly agree with Buffy Williams MS when she voiced that nurses are the
‘heart and soul of our national health services’. Buffy’s statement summarising the
debate, perfectly outlines the strength of feeling for the Nurse Staffing Levels
(Wales) Act 2016, detailing that ‘whatever party we belong to and whatever
community we represent, we all want to ensure that we have the appropriate number
of nurses to ensure the safety and wellbeing of patient’.

Rhun Ap lorwerth MS also outlined Plaid Cymru’s support for the petition and
explaining that ‘yes, requiring the Act to reach all parts of the NHS back in 2016 was
asking a lot in practical terms. Well, given that we are in 2022, it's time to extend it
further’.

I'd also like to thank Jenny Rathbone MS for asking vital questions regarding nurse
staffing levels in community and mental health settings and the use of agency
nursing. Questions such as these are important to understanding the wider debate
surrounding nursing as a profession in Wales.

However, | was disappointed by the response from the Welsh Government.

Eluned Morgan MS, Minister for Health and Social Services, detailed that the Act is
grounded in evidence, which | completely agree with. However, the Minister
expressed that the evidence-based tools for the extension of Section 25B ‘do not
currently exist’. The Minster failed to recognise the tremendous work of the All Wales
Nurse Staffing Programme and did not say whether this work would continue.

The All Wales Nurse Staffing Programme has been gathering the evidence needed
to extend Section 25B for a number of years. Principles for district nursing were
published in 2017 and have received several audits to test their validity. Principles
have also been developed for health visiting and mental health inpatient wards.
Unfortunately, and with deep concern to RCN Wales, the Chief Nursing Officer has
expressed that she does not plan on publishing these principles. This will effectively
pause the gathering of evidence and extension of Section 25B. This was not
reflected in the Ministers response to the petition, nor addressed when directly asked
by Rhun Ap lorwerth MS.

Despite the response by the Welsh Government, | believe the petition has been a
great successful for members of the public that support safe nurse staffing levels.
The debate has shown the strength of feeling among the public, the nursing
profession, and politicians for the extension of Section 25B of the Nurse Staffing
Levels (Wales) Act 2016.

Continued ....

Pack Page 129



12 October 2022 3

RCN Wales will continue to call for safe nurse staffing levels through the extension of
Section 25B of the Nurse Staffing Level (Wales) Act 2016 to community nursing and
mental health inpatient wards as | know this is a top priority for the nursing
profession and patients in Wales.

I'd like to thank you for your support.
Kind regards

4

Richard Jones
Chair
RCN Wales Board

Pack Page 130



	Agenda
	1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of interest
	2.1 P-06-1291 Hold an enquiry into the corporate takeover of the veterinary profession in Wales
	220908 Minister for RA, NW & T to Chair
	220923 Cats Matter to Committee
	220927 Anonymous Veterinary Surgeon  to Committee - Redacted
	221009 Petitioner to Committee - Combined
	221009 Petitioner to Committee - Combined.pdf
	221009 Petitioner to Committee.pdf
	221009 Petitioner to Committee - Annex 1.pdf
	221009 Petitioner to Committee - Annex 2.pdf

	221009 Petitioner to Committee - Annex.pdf


	2.2 P-06-1299 Welsh Government 'Freeze on road building" to include a clause for cases that pose a danger to life
	221003 Deputy Minister for CC to Chair

	2.3 P-06-1300 Review the decision allowing local authorities to increase council tax premiums on second homes to 300%
	220921 Minister for F & LG to Chair

	2.4 P-06-1302 Protect Mid-Wales’ unique Cambrian Mountains: designate them an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
	220920 Minister for CC to Chair
	221010 Petitioners to Committee - Combined
	221010 Petitioners to Committee.pdf
	221010 Petitioners to Committee - Annex 1.pdf


	3.1 P-05-1106 Introduce Personal Health Budgets and Personalised Care in Wales
	220706 Deputy Minister for SS to Chair

	3.2 P-06-1163 Extend the postgraduate STEMM bursary to all MSc students in Wales
	3.3 P-06-1240 Improve health services for people with epilepsy living in Wales
	220721 Minister for H & SS to Chair
	220615 Aneurin Bevan UHB to Chair
	220616 Betsi Cadwaladr UHB to Chair - Redacted
	220623 Cardiff and Vale UHB to Chair
	220624 Cwm Taf Morgannwg UHB to Chair - Redacted
	220624 Swasnea Bay UHB to Chair
	220704 Powys Teaching UHB to Chair
	221007 Petitioner to Committee
	221007 Petitioner to Committee - Annex 1
	221007 Petitioner to Committee - Annex 2

	3.4 P-06-1249 Provide a clinical pathway, medical care, and specialists for people with Tourette’s syndrome in Wales
	220706 Written Statement - E

	3.5 P-06-1276 Extend section 25B of the Nurse Staffing Levels Act (Wales) 2016
	Correspondence from the Petitioners, 12 October 2022




